

Production and Characterization of Biochar and Liquid Product from Slow Pyrolysis of Durian Peel

Ajchareeya Manmeen

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Energy Technology Prince of Songkla University 2023

Copyright of Prince of Songkla University

Production and Characterization of Biochar and Liquid Product
from Slow Pyrolysis of Durian Peel
Miss Ajchareeya Manmeen
Energy Technology

Major Advisor Rottana

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Rattana Jariyaboon)

Co-advisor L.Prawit.

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Prawit Kongjan)

Co-advisor alamanit trkom

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Arkom Palamanit)

The Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, has approved this thesis as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Energy Technology

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Thakerng Wongsirichot)

Acting Dean of Graduate School

This is to certify that the work here submitted is the result of the candidate's own investigations. Due acknowledgement has been made of any assistance received.

Rattana Signature

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Rattana Jariyaboon) Major Advisor

Signature

(Ajchareeya Manmeen) Candidate I hereby certify that this work has not been accepted in substance for any degree, and is not being currently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signature

(Ajchareeya Manmeen) Candidate

ชื่อวิทยานิพนธ์	การผลิตและการทดสอบคุณภาพของถ่านชีวภาพ และผลิตภัณฑ์ของเหลว จาก
	การไพโรไลซิสแบบช้าของเปลือกทุเรียน
ผู้เขียน	นางสาวอัจฉรียา หมานหมีน
สาขาวิชา	เทคโนโลยีพลังงาน
ปีการศึกษา	2566

บทคัดย่อ

เปลือกทุเรียนเป็นชีวมวลประเภทหนึ่งที่ได้จากวัสดุเหลือใช้ทางการเกษตรซึ่งมี ้ปริมาณมากในประเทศไทย งานวิจัยนี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อศึกษาคุณสมบัติทางความร้อนและเคมีของ เปลือกทุเรียนพื้นเมือง 3 ชนิด ได้แก่ หมอนทอง พวงมณี และบาเจาะ รวมถึงลักษณะของไบโอชาร์ และน้ำส้มควันไม้ ที่ได้จากการไพโรไลซิสอย่างช้าของเปลือกทุเรียน จากการศึกษาพบว่าเปลือก ทุเรียนหมอนทองมีปริมาณสารระเหยและคาร์บอนคงที่มากที่สุดคือร้อยละ 73.97 และ 18.43 โดย ้น้ำหนักตามลำดับ จากนั้นมีการศึกษาการเปลี่ยนเปลือกทุเรียนเป็นไบโอชาร์และน้ำส้มควันไม้ผ่าน การไพโรไลซิสแบบช้า การออกแบบองค์ประกอบส่วนกลาง (Central composite design, CCD) ถูกนำมาใช้เพื่อออกแบบสภาวะของตัวแปรอิสระสามตัว ได้แก่ อุณหภูมิไพโรไลซิส อุณหภูมิ ควบแน่น และระยะเวลาในการไพโรไลซิส พบว่ามีเพียงอุณหภูมิไพโรไลซิสที่มีอิทธิพลอย่างมากต่อ ร้อยละผลได้ของไบโอซาร์และน้ำส้มควันไม้ โดยการวิเคราะห์ความแปรปรวน ร้อยละผลได้ของไบ ้โอชาร์และน้ำส้มควันไม้มีความเหมาะสมกับแบบจำลองพหุนามอันดับสองที่สอดคล้องกับผลการ ทดลอง เมื่ออุณหภูมิของการไพโรไลซิสเพิ่มขึ้น ร้อยละผลได้ของผลิตภัณฑ์ที่เป็นของแข็งจะลดลง ในขณะที่ร้อยละผลได้ของน้ำส้มควันไม้เพิ่มขึ้น ร้อยละผลได้ของไบโอชาร์และน้ำส้มควันไม้สูงสุดคือ ร้อยละ 56.11 และ 38.53 การตรวจสอบความถูกต้องของแบบจำลองจากการทำนายทั้งสองสมการ แสดงให้เห็นความสอดคล้องมากกว่าร้อยละ 96 ซึ่งได้ไบโอชาร์ที่มีค่าความร้อนสูง 26.55 MJ/kg จากการวิเคราะห์โดยใช้กราฟ Van Krevelen อัตราส่วนโมลาร์ของ H/C และ O/C ของถ่านชีวภาพ ้ที่อุณหภูมิไพโรไลซิส 600 °C มีความคล้ายคลึงกับวัสดุถ่านหิน อีกทั้งถ่านชีวภาพคุณภาพสูงที่ได้จาก การทดลองอยู่ในชั้นกักเก็บคาร์บอน 4 ตามการจัดประเภท IBI และคุณสมบัติของผลิตภัณฑ์ ของเหลวเป็นไปตามมาตรฐานผลิตภัณฑ์ชุมชนของประเทศไทย นอกจากนี้ยังมีการวิเคราะห์ทาง เศรษฐศาสตร์เพื่อประเมินความเป็นไปได้ของการเปลี่ยนเปลือกทุเรียน 60 ตันต่อปี ให้เป็นถ่าน

ชีวภาพและผลิตภัณฑ์ของเหลว มีการประมาณอัตราผลตอบแทนโครงการภายใน (IRR) ที่ร้อยละ 25.91 โดยมีระยะเวลาคืนทุน 1.58 ปี การค้นพบของการศึกษานี้บ่งชี้ถึงความเป็นไปได้ทาง เศรษฐกิจของการนำการไพโรไลซิสขนาดใหญ่ไปใช้โดยใช้ของเสียจากการเกษตร

คำสำคัญ: เปลือกทุเรียน, ไบโอชาร์, น้ำส้มควันไม้, การไพโรไลซิสแบบช้า, สถิติเชิงวิเคราะห์, การ วิเคราะห์ทางเศรษฐศาสตร์

Thesis Title	Production and Characterization of Biochar and Liquid Product
	from Slow Pyrolysis of Durian Peel

Author Miss Ajchareeya Manmeen

Major Program Energy Technology

Academic Year 2023

ABSTRACT

Durian peel is a type of biomass derived from agricultural residues, which are found in abundant in Thailand. This study aims to investigate the thermal and chemical properties of three indigenous durian peels, namely Monthong (MDP), Puangmanee (PDP), and Bacho (BDP), as well as the characteristics of biochar and pyrolysis liquid derived from slow pyrolysis of the durian peel. MDP had the greatest volatile matter and fixed carbon content, with 73.97 and 18.43 wt.%, respectively. The central composite design was utilized to optimize the conditions of three independent variables, namely pyrolysis temperature, cooling temperature, and holding time. Analysis of variance revealed that only pyrolysis temperature had a significant effect on biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields. The biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields fit by a second-order polynomial model agreed well with experimental results. As the pyrolysis temperature increased, the solid product yield decreased, while the pyrolysis liquid yield increased. The highest biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields were 56.11% and 38.53% that derive at 300 and 600 °C of pyrolysis temperature, respectively. The validation of both prediction models showed over 96% agreement. Biochar of high heating value (26.55 MJ/kg) was obtained at 600 °C pyrolysis temperature and 30 min holding time. According to the Van Krevelen plot, the molar ratios of the H/C and O/C of the biochar obtained at 600 °C of pyrolysis temperatures were similar to coal material. The high-quality biochar was of carbon storage class 4 according to the IBI classification; and the characteristics of pyrolysis liquid met community product standards of Thailand. An economic analysis was performed to assess the feasibility of converting 60 tons/year of durian peel into biochar and pyrolysis liquid. An internal project rate of return (IRR) of 25.91% with a payback period of 1.58 years was estimated. The findings of this study indicate the economic viability of immediately deploying large-scale pyrolysis utilizing a waste stream from agriculture.

Keywords: Durian peel, Biochar, Pyrolysis liquid, Slow pyrolysis, Analytic Statistic, Economic analysis

ACKOWLEDGEMENT

This research was conducted at the Bio-Mass Conversion to Energy and Chemicals (Bio-MEC) research unit in the faculty of science and technology and the energy technology program in the faculty of engineering at Prince of Songkla University (PSU). I would like to express my deepest and sincere gratitude to following person:

- My adviser, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Rattana Jariyaboon, for her consistent direction, continuous support, valuable supervision, valuable suggestions, and understanding with me during this research. Throughout the ups and downs of my research, she always had confidence in me and encouraged me.

- My co-advisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Prawit Kongjan, for his thoughtful recommendations and guidance and for always believing in me and encouraging me throughout my research. I would also like to thank Asst. Prof. Dr. Arkom Palamanit for his thoughtful suggestion.

- I would also like to thank the lecturers and staff of the chemical division, department of science, faculty of science and technology, and energy technology program, and faculty of engineering at Prince of Songkla University (PSU) for their guidance and knowledge, encouragement, practical assistance, and technical support.

- The Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, under Talent Utilization Type 1 for Ph.D. students (Grant number TU1-01/2564), is also appreciated for providing financial assistance for this study.

- All my colleagues and friends kindly assisted me and handled my stress during my research period. In addition, I am grateful for their collaboration, encouragement, and enjoyable moments throughout my research.

- Lastly, I would like to thank my family for their love and help in overcoming the challenges and for their support and understanding throughout my years at Prince of Songkla University.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	vii
ACKOWLEDGEMENT	ix
CONTENTS	X
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background and rationale	1
1.2 Review of Literature	3
1.2.1 Durian	3
1.2.2 Pyrolysis system	6
1.2.3 Biochar	12
1.2.4 pyrolysis liquid	17
1.3 Objective of research	23
CHAPTER II RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	24
2.1 Method	24
2.2 Material and Equipment	25
2.2.1 Sample preparation	25
2.2.2 Characterization method	25
2.2.3 Design of experiments	29
CHAPTER III RESULT AND DISCUSSION	31
3.1 characteristics of durian peel	31
3.1.1 Physical and chemical characteristics	31
3.1.2 Element component	33
3.1.3 Thermal decomposition analysis	34
3.1.4 FT-IR analysis	35
3.2 Biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields	38
3.2.1 Analysis of variance (ANOVA)	39
3.2.2 Diagnostic plots	41
3.2.3 Effects of input variables on the product yields	43
3.2.4 Response surface plots	44
3.2.5 Model validation	48

3.3 Characteristics of biochar	48
3.3.1 Physical and chemical characteristics	48
3.3.2 Thermal decomposition analysis	52
3.3 Characteristics of pyrolysis liquid	54
3.3.1 Properties of pyrolysis liquid	54
3.3.2 Chemical composition	55
3.4 Economic analysis	59
3.4.1 Fixed costs	60
3.4.2 Operating costs	62
3.4.3 Net revenue generation from pyrolysis of durian peel	64
CHAPTER IV CONCLUSION	66
4.1 Summary	66
4.2 Suggestions	67
APPENDIX	68
Permission to publish	68
REFFERENCE	72
VITAE	89

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. 1 Utilization of durian peel	5
Table 1. 2 Review the list of major pyrolysis interactions at different temperature	es
(Jahirul et al., 2012)	8
Table 1. 3 Classification of pyrolysis methods	9
Table 1. 4 Summarize research conditions for pyrolysis and yield	11
Table 1. 5 The properties of biochar produced by pyrolysis, related raw materials	3
and pyrolysis conditions	13
Table 1. 6 Biochar carbon stability	17
Table 1.7 Physicochemical properties of pyrolysis liquid from different plants	18
Table 2.1 Types of durian fruit and thorny shapes	25
Table 2. 2 Experimental variables and their levels	30
Table 3. 1 Characteristics of dried durian peel	32
Table 3. 2 Total elemental concentration of three durian peel samples used in	
experiment (mg/kg)	33
Table 3. 3 Assignment of the FT-IR spectral characteristics of durian peel.	37
Table 3. 4 CCD matrix, observed and predicted product yields	38
Table 3. 5 ANOVA for biochar yield	40
Table 3. 6 ANOVA for pyrolysis liquid yield	41
Table 3. 7 Predicted and observed biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields of the mode	el
validation run.	48
Table 3. 8 Characteristics of biochar samples and durian peel	51
Table 3. 9 Properties of pyrolysis liquid derived at various pyrolysis temperature	S
and holding times	55
Table 3.10 Identified compounds in durian peel pyrolysis liquid at different	
pyrolysis temperature	57
Table 3. 11 Assumptions for pyrolysis unit	61
Table 3. 12 The initial cost of pyrolysis units	62
Table 3. 13 Assumptions made to work out operating costs	63
Table 3. 14 Cost analysis of the 200 kg per day capacity durian peel biomass	
pyrolysis unit	64

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1. 1	Morphological structure of durian fruit (Charoenphun and Klangbud,	
	2020)	4
Fig. 1. 2	The decomposition at different temperatures of biomass	7
Fig. 1. 3	The pyrolysis product of the decomposition of biomass	8
Fig. 1. 4	Bottles of non-distilled (left) and distilled (right) mangrove pyrolysis	
	liquid (Chan et al., 2012)	18
Fig. 2. 1	Schematic diagram of the pyrolysis system	24
Fig. 3. 1	TGA characterization of the three durian peel: (a) TG curves; (b) DTG	
	curves	35
Fig. 3.2	FT-IR spectra of durian peel pattern	36
Fig. 3. 3	Residual Plots for biochar yield	42
Fig. 3. 4	Residual Plots for pyrolysis liquid yield	43
Fig. 3. 5	Effects of input variables on (a) biochar yield, and (b) pyrolysis	
	liquid yield	44
Fig. 3. 6	Contour plots and response surface plots for effects of pyrolysis	
	temperature (°C), cooling temperature (°C), and holding time (min) on	
	the biochar yield	46
Fig. 3. 7	Contour plots and response surface plots for effects of pyrolysis	
	temperature (°C), cooling temperature (°C), and holding time (min)	
	on the pyrolysis liquid yield	47
Fig. 3. 8	Van Krevelen diagram based on the molar ratios H/C and O/C	52
Fig. 3. 9	Thermogravimetric analysis of durian peel and biochar obtained at vario	us
	pyrolysis temperatures: (a) TG curves; and (b) DTG curves.	54
Fig. 3. 1	0 The batch pyrolysis unit model for 50 kg durian peel feed	61

xiii

XIV

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and rationale

Durian is now becoming a popular and significant tropical fruit crop among farmers in Southeast Asia including Thailand (Siriphanich, 2011). According to the data from the Office of Agricultural Economics, in 2021, the overall durian plantation in Thailand is 138,478 hectares, with total durian production of 1,216,700 metric tons. Among them, approximately 50% of durian are produced from southern part of Thailand. These durians belong to the Bombacaceae family and genus Durio. The Chanthaburi Horticultural Research Center has been surveying and collecting cultivars in Thailand for more than 50 years (1967-present), with over 600 cultivars of Durio zibethinus, or indigenous durian (Chanthaburi Horticultural Research Center, 2019). Different species have unique flavor and odor profile. Durian peel is a type of biomass derived from agricultural residues, which are abundantly found in Thailand. Some common names of durian found in Southern Thailand are such as Monthong, Chanee, Kan Yao, Bacho, and Puangmanee (Horticultural Research Institute, 2020). In Thailand, durian cultivars are classified based on the leaf apex, leaf base, fruit shape, and fruit thorny shape, all of which are considered as very stable characteristics that do not fluctuate with environmental circumstances. This study used the durian peel, identified based on morphological categorization. In southern Thailand, three cultivars (PDP, MDP, BDP) of durians are highly popular for consumption and manufacturing.

In addition to household consumption of durian, there are also durian processing industries and entrepreneurs (registered business and community enterprises) which produce durian jam, fried durian chips, or frozen durian for domestic consumption or exported to foreign countries. The 60% by weight of durian consists of the peel (Purnomo et al., 2016), whereby many durian peels are just left

as waste from the durian processing. Durian peel has a strong odour and is difficult to naturally decomposed, thus it will cause unsanitary conditions if it is improperly disposed. Currently, durian peel is not utilized commercially, despite numerous studies on the potential uses such as antioxidant and anti- inflammatory activity (Chingsuwanrote et al., 2016), antimicrobial activity (Lipipun et al., 2002; O. Duazo, 2012), pectin (Maran, 2015), carboxymethyl cellulose (Rachtanapun et al., 2012; Suriyatem et al., 2019), flour (Charoenphun and Klangbud, 2019), charcoal briquettes (Nuriana et al., 2014), and paper (Masrol et al., 2015).

There are a few reports on durian peel processing by pyrolysis technology. Studies on the pyrolysis of durian peel indicate its potential utility in biofuel and biochemical production. Biochar can be used for adsorption, soil amendment, as a catalyst, etc. (Cha et al., 2016), while pyrolysis liquid has been used in organic agriculture, alternative medicine, food processing, etc. (Theapparat et al., 2018). The fast pyrolysis of durian peel was studied with the effects of pyrolysis temperature (250-650 $^{\circ}$ C), the influences of the studied pyrolysis temperature ranges to the pyrolysis product yields were found. The temperature of 650 °C and a holding time of 10 min produced 23.51% biochar and 57.45% pyrolysis liquid. The yield of pyrolysis liquid was high because fast pyrolysis which normally operate at >20 °C/min heating rate tends to produce pyrolysis liquid maximally (Tan et al., 2017). Otherwise, slow pyrolysis using 1-10 °C /min heating rate is the best method for biochar production, resulting in a greater specific surface area of biochar and a 30-60% biochar yield (Li et al., 2020). Moreover, the investment cost of pyrolizers and energy input for slow pyrolysis systems are lower than those for fast pyrolysis (Brown et al., 2011).

Recently, in the pyrolysis report using two feedstocks (Moso bamboo and heavy bio-oil (or light bio-oil) simultaneously, Response Surface Methodology (RSM) was chosen to assess the influences of the different experimental conditions (temperature, residence time (or holding time), and mass ratio) on the yield and quality of the products (Chen et al., 2022; Zhuang et al., 2023). The increasing mass ratio results in high biochar yield, while pyrolysis temperature and residence time showed an effect to decrease output (Chen et al., 2022). Similar to the liquid products, the mass ratio has an effect while the resident time shows less influence. However, the pyrolysis temperature of this report shows an increased liquid yield at higher temperatures but a decreased product at temperatures exceeding 550 °C (Zhuang et al., 2023). Das and Goud (2021) utilized RSM to study the slow pyrolysis of rice husks. They investigated three parameters (pyrolysis temperature, nitrogen flowrate, and holding time); both pyrolysis temperature and holding time have significance with produced yield, in which the maximum achievable liquid yield of 35.2 wt.% with corresponding biochar yield of 48 wt.% was attained at 430 °C of pyrolysis temperature and 40 min of holding time (Das and Goud, 2021).

In pyrolysis processes, the operating parameters such as reactor type, biomass components, biomass particle size, heating rate, and reaction temperature affect the product yield distribution and quality (Li et al., 2020; Theapparat et al., 2019). Theoretically, increasing the pyrolysis temperature and holding time enhanced the decomposition of feedstock components, resulting in a higher liquid product but a decrease in solid yield, while their influences on the product characteristics are still uncertain. In addition, a lower cooling temperature can also result in a more efficient separation of pyrolysis liquid products. However, the investigation of an optimum cooling temperature is also needed for economic aspects. As per our best literature review, no reports have been published on the converting of durian peel to biochar and pyrolysis liquid by slow pyrolysis. Likewise, the effect of cooling temperature for liquid product recovery is still lack of information. The central composite design (CCD) was adopted for experimental design, and RSM was applied to explore the significance of the variables to both product yields. Comprehensive characterizations of biochar and pyrolysis liquid products were also compared to the product quality standards to assess the suitable future utilization and criteria for choosing the desired pyrolysis conditions. Moreover, the small industrial-scale plant for durian peel processing was designed, and its economic feasibility was also analyzed.

1.2 Review of Literature

1.2.1 Durian

The rise in durian production increases the quantity of durian waste. The durian content typically ranges between 20 and 25% by weight of durian seed and 75 to 80% by weight of durian peel (Lubis et al., 2018). Therefore, durian is one of the most economically significant fruits in Thailand. The scientific name for this plant is *Durio zibethinus Murray*, which belongs to the family of Bombacaceae. There are more than 30 kinds of durian. However, only nine are available for consumption: D. *zibethinus, D. dulcis, D. grandiflorus, D. graveolens, D. kutetensis, D. lowianus, D. macrantha, D. oxleyanus, and D. testudinarum especially D.zibethinus*, is a famous durian consumed all over the world (Pakkaew, 2016).

1.2.1.1 Composition of durian fruit

Typically, durian fruit is composed of 10-30% durian pulp, 50-60% peel, and 10-20% seeds (Fig. 1.1) (Purnomo et al., 2016).



Fig. 1. 1 Morphological structure of durian fruit (Charoenphun and Klangbud, 2020)

Durian is rich in nutrition fruit; for example, durian pulp contains sugar, vitamin C, potassium, protein, carbohydrate, fat, vitamin B1, vitamin B2, vitamin E, phosphorus, calcium, iron, and a pungent smell (Ashari et al., 2015). Durian seeds contain between 50 – 70% carbohydrates (Mirhosseini et al., 2015), while durian peel includes 4.84 % ash, 13.09 % hemicellulose, and 15.45 % lignin (Jun et al., 2010). The chemical composition of durian fruit contains many carbohydrates and exists in the form of starch and sugar. Hemicellulose, an insoluble and indigestible polysaccharide carbohydrate, is also present in the digestive tract or dietary fiber. The sweetness of durian is mainly attributable to durian protein, and it will emit an odor when ripe. The physical transformation of durian from aging to impulse to maturity has occurred. Enzymes, a type of protein found in durian, are responsible for the sweetness experienced during starch transfer to sugar. Durian has a 3.9% fat content; stearic and palmitic acids are durian's most abundant fatty acids. The durian is rich in vitamins and minerals essential for various body types. In addition, durian contains essential chemicals such as carotene (a fat-soluble pigment) and volatile molecules, such as thioether, esters, hydrogen sulfide, and diethyl disulfide, that give the fruit its distinctive odor (Pakkaew, 2016). The beneficial compounds in durian include antioxidants (Arancibia-Avila et al., 2008) and anti-inflammatory compounds (Chingsuwanrote et al., 2016).

1.2.1.2 Utilization of durian waste

During the season when durian products are put on the market, twothirds of the durian fruit is consumed, causing much waste from durian fruit (Ong et al., 2011). Currently, there is research on using durian by-products and waste (Table 1.1) to be used in various fields of work.

Utilization	Results	Reference
Antioxidant and	The existing Monthong durian extract has	
anti-inflammatory	better antioxidant and anti-inflammatory	(Chingsuwanrote
activities	effects than Chundee durian extract.	et al., 2016)
Carboxymethyl	Carboxymethyl cellulose is prepared from	(Khemkaew, S.
cellulose	cellulose extract of durian peel through	and Kaewpirom,
	carboxymethyl. The addition of glycerol	2016)
	increases the flexibility of the film, while the	
	young's modulus decreases. On the other	
	hand, by adding PEG-10 Dimethicone, the	
	flexibility of the film decreases.	
Flour	As durian substitutes increase, the firmness of	(Charoenphun and
	gluten-free pasta increases.	Kwanhian, 2020)
Charcoal	The result of the thermal efficiency analysis	(Chutsawang,
briquette	concluded that the charcoal briquette of	2013)
	durian peel produced by this community has	
	6,134 calories per gram, which is higher than	
	the standard and produces 6.2% ashes. Its	
	performance complies with community	
	product standards.	
Paper	Two types of durian peel paper for inkjet	(Tipsotnaiyana N.
	printing were studied. The ratio of durian thin	and Netpradit S.,
	pulp to Saa pulp is 75% to 25% (O/D weight),	2007)
	so that the paper has the best physical	
	properties.	

Table 1.1 Utilization of durian peel

Furthermore, extract important biologically active substances, such as antioxidant activity, anti-inflammatory, inhibit pathogenic microorganisms, develop polysaccharide gel from durian peel to eliminate oral peritonitis, extract hydrocolloids (such as gums) and use it as emulsifiers for food, pectin and carboxymethyl cellulose for the production of edible coatings and biofilms, use immature durian, seeds, and peels to produce starch for the production of gluten-free pasta, including charcoal briquette production, paper strips, and other fields.

1.2.2 Pyrolysis system

1.2.2.1 Fundamental principles of pyrolysis

Lignocellulosic biomass by thermal decomposition with the pyrolysis process occurs in an inert atmosphere without oxygen. The primary reaction of the chemical is highly complicated and contains various steps. The final pyrolysis yields from biomass include biochar, pyrolysis liquid, and syngas. The process of pyrolysis mainly spits out carbon dioxide (CO₂), carbon monoxide (CO), methane (CH₄), and hydrogen (H₂). The organic substance in the biomass precursor appears to decay approximately 350–550 °C and handle up to 700–800 °C, unavailable of air/oxygen (Atsonios et al., 2015). The macromolecules of the organic material begin to degrade to produce small molecules, excused into the gas, condensed vapor (tar and oil), and solid charcoal by the process stream during the process of pyrolysis. The amount of each final yield is conditioned on heating rate, holding time, pressure and temperature, the type of reactants, and the configuration and design of the reactor. Fig.1.2 shows the degradation system of residues of lignocellulosic at several temperatures.

Biomass moisture matter is likewise an essential part of the pyrolysis process. During the rapid pyrolysis process, the moisture content of the raw materials should be about 10% (Bridgwater et al., 1999). Due to high humidity, the main product becomes liquid, and if the water level is low, the risk of a process that generates much dust instead of oil is high. Therefore, the sludge obtained from waste streams and meat processing waste streams must be dried before exposure to the pyrolysis environment. Below 450 °C, at which slow heating rate, the primary output is biochar. Though, at a temperature higher than 800 °C, with a higher heating rate, more gaseous and ash yields will be produced. Pyrolysis liquid can be produced at relatively high heating rates at moderate temperatures. At the beginning of the process, at 250-300°C, the release rate of volatile substances is 10 times faster than the next step (Lanzetta and Di Blasi, 1998).



Fig. 1.2 The decomposition at different temperatures of biomass

Normally, wood biomass is used in charcoal production. Charcoal in heating manufactured derived a small smoke quantity in the past, widely consumed to melt ore to separate iron. However, this method has disadvantages: low yield, excessive air pollution, and low energy. Since then, modern technologies have been established to draw biomass with the greatest energy using gasification, pyrolysis, and combustion (Faravelli et al., 2010). Combustion involves biomass burning in oxygen presence to produce heat. The abilities of this system are not suitable (Pei-dong et al., 2007; Thornley et al., 2009). Gasification also occurs in an oxidizing atmosphere that provides gas fuel. However, pyrolysis is the main stage of combustion and gasification (Fisher et al., 2002). Therefore, pyrolysis can be considered part of combustion and gasification (Grønli et al., 2002). The decomposition products of biomass during pyrolysis are shown in Fig. 1.3 (International Energy Agency, 2006).



Fig. 1.3 The pyrolysis product of the decomposition of biomass

Table 1. 2 Review the	list of major pyrolysis interactions a	t different temperatures (Jahirul et
al., 2012)			

Temperature	Reaction type	Final products
Less than 350°C	Depolymerization,	CO and CO ₂ gas liberation,
	moisture loss, free	carbonyl and carboxyl
	radical generation	group production, biochar
		formation
During 350-450°C	Substitution for breaking	Tar production containing
	of glycoside chain of	levoglucosan, anhydrides
	polysaccharide	and oligosaccharides
Above 450°C	Dehydration,	Acetaldehyde, glyoxalin and
	rearrangement, and	acrolein production
	fission of sugar units	
Above 500°C	A mixture of all above	A mixture of all above
	processes	products
Condensation	Unsaturated products	A highly reactive char
	condense and cleave to	residue containing trapped
	the char	free radicals

1.2.2.2 Classification of pyrolysis methods

There are three types of pyrolysis are conventional/slow pyrolysis, fast pyrolysis, and ultra-fast/fast pyrolysis. Table 1.3 summarizes each method differences in temperature, holding time, heating rate and products yield. As mentioned before,

slow pyrolysis is often used to modify solid materials to reduce the amount of liquid produced. Fast pyrolysis and ultra-fast pyrolysis (flash) can maximize the production of gas and liquid (Lewandowski et al., 2020).

Method	Temperature (°C)	Holding Time	Heating rate (°C/s)	Major products
Slow pyrolysis	400-500	5-30 min	10	Solid
Fast pyrolysis	400-650	0.5-2 s	100	Liquid, gas
Flash pyrolysis	700-1000	<0.5 s	>500	Gas

Table 1.3 Classification of pyrolysis methods

1.2.2.3 Pyrolysis process

As shown in the equation, pyrolysis is the thermal decomposition process of biomass or other raw materials in an anaerobic state.

$$(C_6H_{12}O_6)_n \rightarrow (H_2+CO+CH_4+...+C_5H_{12})_g + (H_2O+...+CH_3OH+CH_3COOH+...)_1 + C_5H_{12}O_6 + (H_2O+...+CH_3OH+CH_3COOH+...)_1 + (H_2O+...+CH_3OH+C$$

There are two main types of pyrolysis: slow pyrolysis and fast pyrolysis. Slow pyrolysis is the conversion of biomass over a prolonged heating period. It uses a lower heating rate, the main product is biochar (>30%), and fast pyrolysis is used to convert biomass in a shorter holding time. The main product with a rapid heating rate is bio-oil or pyrolysis liquid (>50%) (Qambrani et al., 2017).

1.2.2.4 Factors affecting pyrolysis

1) Biomass type

As reported by (Akhtar and Saidina Amin, 2012), each type of biomass contains different amounts of lignocellulose, which affects the product yield during the pyrolysis process. Cellulose and hemicellulose are responsible components of pyrolysis liquid, while the lignin constituent of the product is biochar.

2) Biomass pretreatment

Generally, the biomass entering the pyrolysis process must be pretreated to reduce its size and change or destroy the structure of the lignocellulose components, which will affect the product yield after pyrolysis. Biomass pretreatment technologies are mainly divided into five categories:

- Physical, such as milling and pressing, etc.

- Thermal, such as steam explosions and torrefaction, etc.

- Chemical, such as pretreatment with acids, alkalis, and ionic liquids, etc.

- Biological, such as using enzymes, etc.

- Co-pretreatment (Mohan et al., 2006)

3) Temperature

The pyrolysis temperature has a significant influence on the performance and yield of the product. The liquid yield is highest at a temperature of 400 to 550 °C and above 600 °C. Due to the secondary reaction, the products of liquid and char are converted into a gas (Mohan et al., 2006).

4) Heating rate

The heating rate is a parameter that characterizes the type of pyrolysis. The rate of fast pyrolysis is the high heating rate, while the low heating rate is slow pyrolysis (Mohan et al., 2006). A high heating rate leads to rapid degradation of the biomass structure, resulting in a higher gas yield than a solid yield. In contrast, a low heating rate slows the decomposition of the biomass structure, showing more solid products than gases are produced. Therefore, the heating rate influences the yield of pyrolysis products.

5) Holding time

A shorter reaction time is effective for liquid products because VOCs are released at the beginning of the reaction, and the reaction time does not directly affect the yield of the product. On the contrary, it directly affects the quality of the product obtained by pyrolysis.

The pyrolysis process can be adjusted by controlling various process factors to achieve the most specific product state (Chen and Lin, 2016). Slow pyrolysis uses a temperature of 350-700 °C. Those produce the highest solids or biochar. Setter et al. (2020)(Setter et al., 2020) studied the production of biochar from coffee husk briquettes through slow pyrolysis shown that the maximum biochar is 39.82% at 350 °C. Like Ghysels et al. (2020)(Ghysels et al., 2020) study, cocoa pods can be slow pyrolysis at a temperature of 350 to 500 °C, with a maximum biochar yield of 48%. The utilization of biomass to produce biochar and pyrolysis liquid pyrolysis has been widely used in recent years. However, most biomass to produce biochar and pyrolysis liquid is hardwood.

In addition, no more research has been conducted on using durian peel to produce biochar and pyrolysis liquid. There may be numerous factors involved in biochar production. The other pyrolysis research conditions are shown in Table 1.4.

Biomass	Pyrolysis conditions	Result	References
Coconut	Sample:	Maximum yield	(Sarkar and
shell	Moisture 7.82%, Quantity 4 g, Size 250 µm, HHV 9.62 MJ/kg	Biochar 33.6% at 400 °C	Wang, 2020)
	Condition: Ar flow 100 mL/min,	Pyrolysis liquid 48.7% at 600 °C	
	Heating rate 10 °C/min, Temp. 400-800 °C	Syngas 18.34% at 600 °C	
Malt bagase	Sample:	Maximum yield	(Machado
	Moisture 2.24%, Quantity 40 g, Size 0.5 mm, HHV 18.16 MJ/kg	Biochar 29.71% at 500 °C	et al., 2020)
	Condition: N ₂ flow 150 mL/min,	Pyrolysis liquid 47.67% at 700 °C	
	Heating rate 5 °C/min, Temp. 500, 600, and 700 °C, Holding time 10, 30 and 50 min	Syngas 36.40% at 500 °C	
Poplar wood	Sample:	Maximum yield	(Zhang et
	Quantity 5 g, Size 50 µm Condition:	Biochar 35.7% at 350 °C	al., 2020)
	N ₂ flow 100 mL/min, Temp. 100-800°C, Holding time 30 min	Pyrolysis liquid 21.1% at 500 °C	
		Syngas 65.08% at 800 °C	
Coffee husk	Sample:	Maximum yield	(Setter et
briquette	Moisture 9 %, Quantity 1.5 kg, Size 7×10 cm, HHV 15- 20 MJ/kg	Biochar 39.82% at 350 °C	al., 2020)
	Condition:		

Table 1.4 Summarize research conditions for pyrolysis and yield

Biomass	Pyrolysis conditions	Result	References
	Heating rate 5 °C/min,	Pyrolysis liquid 33.59%	
	Temp. 350, 400, and 450	at 400 °C	
	°C, Holding time 30 min	Syngas 31.94% at 450 °C	
Cotton	Sample:	Maximum yield	(Al Afif et
stalks	Moisture 8.6%, Quantity 20 g, Size 1-3 mm, HHV 18.32 MJ/kg	Biochar 86.5% at 300 °C	al., 2020)
	Condition: N2 flow 0.5 L/min, Temp.	Pyrolysis liquid 32.88% at 800 °C	
	300-800 °C, Holding time 30 min	Syngas 39.12% at 800 °C	

1.2.3 Biochar

The application of biochar is different from charcoal. Ordinary charcoal refers to its use as fuel, while biochar is used to store carbon in the soil and improve the physical condition of the soil. Due to the characteristics of biochar, when inserted into the soil, it is naturally porous, supporting to ventilate, penetrating, absorbing, and retaining nutrients. It is the existence of microorganisms that reduce the acidity of the soil. It also improves the quality of the fertilizer, thereby saving fertilizer use, reducing costs, increasing income, and improving productivity, a technology that farmers, families, communities can develop, and local organizations (Spokas et al., 2012). Furthermore, the structural feature with many areas, which is characterized by negative ions on the contact surface, helps increase the cation exchange capacity (CEC) of positively charged nutrients. Therefore, it is also a way to accumulate nutrients for plants and has the characteristics of biochar with a substantial alkalinity value (pH), especially for degraded soils and long-term accumulation of chemicals (Liang et al., 2006).

1.2.3.1 Conditions of pyrolysis

Biochar is a product from pyrolysis that includes all the noncombustible components of the raw material. Consequently, irrespective of the process temperature and raw material, biochar never occurs as a pyrolysis and gasification product. The use of slow pyrolysis technology can maximize the production of biochar. On the other hand, under fast pyrolysis conditions at high temperatures, biochar production will decrease. In contrast, in slow pyrolysis at a temperature of 300-700 °C, the heating rate is 1-100°C/sec, and the pyrolysis time is several minutes to several days (Cantrell et al., 2012; Qambrani et al., 2017; Spokas et al., 2012). For biochar analysis from an individual material type, pyrolysis temperature, holding time, and oxygen exposure will affect the quality and quantity of biochar produced.

1.2.3.2 Yield and fixed carbon content

Generally, the maximum increase of pyrolysis temperature leads to decreases yield (by weight) and carbon content (by weight) of the biochar with the release of increased hydrogen, nitrogen, and oxygen in the raw material through the gas phase (Mašek et al., 2013). The slow pyrolysis system usually produces 35% of biochar (by mass, the proportion of dry raw material converted into biochar). The typical fast pyrolysis system can produce 12% of biochar (Qambrani et al., 2017). Despite this tendency, current reports contain established that produce pyrolysis at low and high temperatures similar to stable carbon. This is because more stable carbon products (lower quantity) are achieved during pyrolysis at high temperatures, and the carbon content is low (higher quantity) products achieved at low-temperature of the pyrolysis process (Mašek et al., 2013).

These results indicate little difference from the perspective of pyrolysis biochar at low-temperature and high temperature (Mašek et al., 2013), as can be observed from Table 1.5, which significantly mentions that the carbon amount of biochar depends on the raw materials chosen.

 Table 1.5 The properties of biochar produced by pyrolysis, related raw materials and

Feedstock	% Moisture	Pyrolysis temp. (°C)	Biochar yield (%wt.)	Stable carbon yield (%)	Surface area (m²/g)	pН	Reference
Corn Cob	11.7	300	77.3	49.1	61.8	8.1	
		400	36.9	71.7	180.1	9.1	(Liu et al.,
		500	23.3	81.6	212.6	9.3	2014)
		600	21.7	82.4	192.9	10.4	

pyrolysis conditions

Mixed	30	350	44 (est.)	72 (est.)			
larch and		450	36 (est.)	78 (est.)			(Mašek et
spruce		550	30 (ast)	86 (ast)			al., 2013)
wood chips		550	30 (est.)	80 (ESI.)			
Peanut	Air dried	400	40	50	0.52	70	(Novak at
Shells	All ulleu,	400	40	39	0.32	1.9	(1) (1)
	II/a	500	35	56	1.22	8.6	al., 2009)
Softwood	6	250	29 (ast)	72 (ast)			
Pellets	0	550	58 (est.)	72 (est.)			(Mašek et
		450	31 (est.)	78 (est.)			al., 2013)
		550	28 (est.)	84 (est.)			
Soybean	Dried 0/	300	37.03	68.81	5 61	7 77	(Ahmad at
Stover	Diled, %	500	57.05	00.01	5.01	1.21	
	n/a	700	21.59	81.98	420.3	11.32	ai., 2012)

1.2.3.3 Utilizations of biochar

The current use and application of biochar could be a profoundly active field of investigation with an ongoing search about comes. Underneath is a few everyday uses of biochar, as backed by current literature.

1) Substitution of activated carbon

The high content of carbon (65-90%) in biochar and the high surface area caused by micropores are two primary characteristics that can give activated carbon excellent applications in filtration/refining, chemical reactions, and adsorption (Azargohar and Dalai, 2006). Therefore, the identity of activated carbon and biochar has led to many studies on using biochar instead of activated carbon. The specific surface area of activated carbon is 500-1600 m²/g so that it can be used in advance. The surface area characteristics of biochar produced by low-temperature pyrolysis are lowest during 0.7-13.6 m²/g, as the surface area characteristics of biochar produced by high-temperature pyrolysis are up to 460 m²/g that highest (Qambrani et al., 2017).

2) Control of odor

Similar to activated carbon, biochar is often used due to the control of odor ability. Air molecules adsorption has been studied that causes fecal odors. The biochar materials obtained from bamboo, human feces, pine, and wood were equally effective and with activated carbon controls for efficacy to absorb odors. While fecal odors cannot be eliminated 100%.

3) Amendment of soil

Although many studies have analyzed the impact of soil biochar and crop yield, there are still differences. In terms of crop yields, a meta-analysis was performed by Jeffery et al. (2011). It was established in all studies as fourteen samplings, which was a negligible positive, statistically significant progressive influence on crop yields, and crop efficiency increased by 10%. Although crop yields vary widely (-28 to +39%), the best improvement usually observed in biochar is in acidic or neutral pH soils and medium/gravelly soils (Jeffery et al., 2011). Added biochar with 100 tons/hectare showed the most significant enhancement in crop yield with +39% (Jeffery et al., 2011), which is critical to observe that another report also recorded a +64% increase in crop yield (Hossain et al., 2010), a 146% increase in crop yield (Peng et al., 2011), and a 250% increase in crop yield (Van Zwieten et al., 2010), while the addition of biochar usually brings the most significant improvement except fertilizers, only slight enhancements are observed (Hossain et al., 2010; Peng et al., 2011; Van Zwieten et al., 2010). Although the products are the most widespread, research shows that adding biological agents to soil able to enhance the water retention capacity of the soil (Ding et al., 2010; Karhu et al., 2011; Peng et al., 2011), retention of nutrients (Ding et al., 2010), pH (may replace agricultural lime) (Galinato et al., 2011; Novak et al., 2009; Peng et al., 2011), organisms of soil (Atkinson et al., 2010; Solaiman et al., 2010; Warnock et al., 2010) and exchange capacity of cation (Peng et al., 2011; Van Zwieten et al., 2010), as reducing emissions in the soil (Karhu et al., 2011). Nevertheless, that identified that the temperature of pyrolysis, time of pyrolysis, beginning raw materials, increased biochar content, and primary composition of chemicals in the soil affect the biochar capacity of the soil and have a positive impact on the yield of soil and crops. In addition, total the earlier-mentioned investigations were carried out at one time of several months to two years, and there still needs to be long-term research on the biochar effects on soil (Jeffery et al., 2011).

4) Waste management of solid

The similarity of biochar and activated carbon has prompted the study of the application of biochar using traditional waste management systems. In largescale landfill operations, it was archived that biochar helps restore leachate and reduces the impact of the landfill on the environment. At the same time, minor composting treatment is carried out to manage organic solid waste (Qambrani et al., 2017).

1.2.3.4 Reduction of greenhouse gas emission

1) Stability of carbon

The carbon sequestration potential of biochar comes from the stability of carbon, which can prevent the carbon contained in biochar from degrading into lighter hydrocarbons in the short term, as well as by gas emissions-greenhouses such as CO₂ or CH₄ into the atmosphere. Individual biochar can retain its configuration (carbon stability is higher) and, to return, prevent carbon into the atmosphere; very interested in biochar in carbon sequestration plans. Generally, the stability of carbon in biochar was evaluated by concluding the half-life or retention time of that average of carbon in the biochar. Mention of half-life, that time at which medium the available carbon at initial on biochar has decreased (like the moderate), that average retention time mentions it takes for carbon into the soil to be transmitted to the environment (like average) (Woolley and Hallowell, 2018). Singh et al. (2012) a five-year laboratory study was conducted to demonstrate how the carbon stability of biochar changes with raw materials (eucalyptus and leaves, sludge from paper mills, poultry waste, cow dung) and pyrolysis conditions. Researchers used the carbon-13 test for the biochar stability and established that the biochar during 0.5-8.9% was mineralized in the five-year study lesson (Singh et al., 2012). They established that, depending on the raw material and pyrolysis conditions, the average residence time of biochar is 90-1600 years; see Table 1.6 below. Biochar from manure, raw materials, and biochar produced at pyrolysis at low temperatures have low carbon stability (Singh et al., 2012).

Raw material	Temperature (°C)	Steam activation	Average residence time of carbon (years)	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	400	Yes	326	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	400	No	294	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	550	Yes	1271	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	550	No	1616	
Eucalyptus saligna leaves	400	Yes	270	
Eucalyptus saligna leaves	550	Yes	572	
Paper mill sludge	550	Yes	102	
Poultry litter	400	No	129	
Poultry litter	550	Yes	396	
Cow manure	400	No	90	
Cow manure	550	Yes	313	

Table 1.6 Biochar carbon stability

2) Sequestration of carbon

One of the recommended results to address the continuous rise in the concentration of CO₂ in the atmosphere and the level of human CO₂ emissions is to achieve carbon sequestration through biochar preparation. Many biochar scientists and supporters have proposed that when the process of biochar production is optimized, biochar yield can offset 12% (or about 1.8 PgCO₂-C; (Woolf et al., 2010)) when the operation has increased efficiency for the production of bio-energy, the annual output can reach up to 10%, which is better than other carbon sequestration technologies used today.

1.2.4 pyrolysis liquid

1.2.4.1 Characterization of pyrolysis liquid

1) Physicochemical properties of pyrolysis liquid

Pyrolysis liquid has a smoky smell with a light yellow to dark brown, as shown in Fig.1.4, which varies based on biomass usage. Smell mixtures, including derivatives of ester, ketones, furan and pyran, nitrogen, and phenol, provide the smell of pyrolysis liquid (Guillén and Manzanos, 2005). Alkyl guaiacol derivatives (sweet, smoky, woody), alkyl phenol derivatives (cresols and pungent flavor), alkyl syringol derivatives (light, heavy, burnt), guaiacol (smoky sweet, pungent), phenolic compounds are phenols (pungent), and syringol (smoke) contributes to the odor and taste of pyrolysis liquid (Kim et al., 1974).



Fig. 1.4 Bottles of non-distilled (left) and distilled (right) mangrove pyrolysis liquid (Chan et al., 2012)

Pyrolysis liquid from birch without bark heartwood contains water at 74.7% and organic matter at 25.3% (Hagner, 2013). The viscosity of pyrolysis liquid in *C.oleifera* is 1.08 cSt, and the content of moisture is 84% (Xu et al., 2013), and (Rakmai, 2009) research that pyrolysis liquid samples in white popinac, bamboo, rubber wood, and eucalyptus contained 78–88% water. According to reports, rubber wood boiling point is 96–108 °C (Ratanapisit et al., 2009). Table 1.7 lists the physicochemical properties and yields of pyrolysis liquid from different plant sources.

Biomass	рН	Density	Organic acid content (%)	Yield (%)	References
Rubber wood	2.90- 3.80	1.009- 1.027	-	23-29	(Ratanapisit et al., 2009)
Birch heartwood	1.80- 2.90	_	-	38-43 (including tar)	(Fagernäs et al., 2012)
Walnuts tree branches					(Wei et al., 2010a)
WP1	3.49	1.034	2.73	11.4	
WP2	3.32	1.050	3.01	31.4	

 Table 1.7 Physicochemical properties of pyrolysis liquid from different plants

WP3	2.76	1.072	3.12	1.45	
Moso bamboo	2.50	1.090	3.80	-	(Lin and Shiah, 2006)
Walnuts shell					(Wei et al., 2010b)
SP1	3.02	1.013	6.31	_	
SP2	2.98	1.045	2.85	-	
SP3	3.32	1.035	2.07		
Eucalyptus	-	-	-	45.5	(Souza et al., 2012)
Mixed chips of Quercus sp.	<2.50	-	4.6-5.5	-	(Choi et al., 2012)
Camellia oleifera shell	3.50	-	-	30	(Xu et al., 2013)
Rosemary leaves					(Ma et al., 2013)
Fresh	-	-	-	65	
Air dried	-			25	
Coconut shell	2.90	1.020	-	-	(Wititsiri, 2011)

2) The chemical properties and composition of pyrolysis liquid

Slow pyrolysis usually produces in crude distillation, which separates it into a liquid stage called pyrolysis liquid, while the dark, non-fatty ground phase is called scorched pyroligneous tar (Amen-Chen et al., 1997; Fagernäs et al., 2012; Souza et al., 2012). Pyrolysis liquid storage below 300 °C will produce fewer effective compounds. This is because hemicellulose degraded and cellulose degraded during this period. However, storing pyrolysis liquid at temperatures above 425 °C will cause the tar to decompose. The carcinogens are 3,4-Benzopyrene and 1,2,5,6-Dibenzanthra-Cenementryl Cholnisrene, although these substances can be eliminated. It is easy to re-distill at 60-70 °C, but re-distillation loses some agriculturally beneficial compounds (Phisatan et al., 2015). The distillate ratio is based on raw material, procedure, and conditions of storage (Rakmai, 2009). Because PAHs exist, it can be challenging to use tars for purposes other than energy. However, a wood preservative an able used (Fagernäs et al., 2012). The pyroligneous composition acid changes according to the temperature, heating rate, and raw material properties through pyrolysis.

Usually, pyrolysis liquid has a complex mixed composition of acetic acid, carboxaldehyde, catechol, carboxylic acids, furans, guaiacol, hydroxy ketones, isoeugenol, methanol, phenol, pyrans, sugars, syringol, vanillin, and other (Berahim et al., 2011; Guillén and Manzanos, 2005). The pyrolysis liquid that extracts dichloromethane from the pineapple plant's waste biomass contains many phenolic compounds, especially 1,2-benzenediol (catechol), 2,6-dimethoxy phenol, 3-methoxy 1,2- benzenediol and phenol. Alkyl aryl ether (9.33%), ketone (7.76%), and phenol (69.5%) in the pineapple waste biomass were identified as critical constituents of pyrolysis liquid, consisting of the pineapple leaves and the remaining stems in the field after harvesting that derivatives of furan and pyran (3.57%), sugar (2.85%), acid (2.67%), ester (1.81%), aldehyde (1.05%), alcohol (0.9%) and derivatives of nitrogen (0.14%) are secondary elements (Mathew et al., 2015).

3) Potential derivations of chemical components in pyrolysis liquid

The components in pyrolysis liquid can examine back to the lignocellulosic spine in the cell wall of plants. The lactones and furans are constructed in pyrolysis liquid mainly by hemicellulose hydrolysis. Phenolic acids and ketones are listed with significant results of xylan pyrolysis. This contains many cyclopentenones and 1-hydroxy-2-propanone with ethyl and methyl substituents and basic phenols with methyl substituents. Moreover, acetic acid, propionic acid, and a small amount formed of aromatics (Stefanidis et al., 2014). The xylose unit in hemicellulose degraded to an acetyl group that occurs high acetic acid in pyrolysis liquid. In addition, xylan degradation produces 1-hydroxy-2-butanone, 1-hydroxy-2-propanone, 2-furfuraldehyde, acetic acid, methanol, propionic acid, and water. The methyl ester decomposition occurs high methanol or ether produced by the decomposition of the methoxy group of uronic acid and pectin-like plant substances

(Demirbas and Arin, 2002), that the breakage of the ferulate substituents on xylan, in particular probably originate to phenols and the gas stage unsaturated polymerization light materials (Evans and Milne, 1987).

Contrastingly, the degradation of cellulose will release dehydrated 1,4:3,6-dianhydro- α -D-pyran glucopyranose and levoglucosan (1,6-anhydro- β -D-glucopyranose) (Stefanidis et al., 2014). In pyrolysis conditions with a temperature higher than 300 °C, cellulose is converted to glucose, and levoglucosan is formed by removed water molecules (Balat et al., 2009). Major pyrolysis of cellulose achieved 1,4:3,6-Dianhydro- α -d-glucopyranose or levoglucosan by minor pyrolysis (Kawamoto et al., 2007). Basic aldehydes, cyclic ketones, phenols, and a small amount of alcohol were detected from the pyrolysis of cellulose (Stefanidis et al., 2014).

Compounds of smoky odor, such as 4-methyl guaiacol, eugenol, guaiacol, and phenol, are the product of lignin thermal degradation (Balat et al., 2009). The lignin thermal decomposition causes the breakage of the weak α -ether and β -ether bonds in the lignin structure, releasing guaiacyl and syringyl aromatic compounds. These aromatic compounds continue to form catechol and pyrogallol through the homogenization reaction of the O-CH₃ bond, or kind cresol and xylenol through the rearrangement reaction induced by free radicals (Asmadi et al., 2011a). Additionally the cresol degradation through demethylation produces phenol (Asmadi et al., 2011b).

1.2.4.2 Utilizations of pyrolysis liquid

1) The organic agriculture

Using chemical fertilizers will not only cause a heavy burden and pollution to the environment but also threaten our health. Long-term use of chemical fertilizers can cause the following problems: exhaustion of soil organic matter, reduction of water and nutrients, deterioration of soil structure, and water and heavy soil losses. Not only adding too much chemical fertilizer but also polluting the soil, water, and air and retaining most of the residues in vegetables, which reduces the quality and safety of our food supply. Therefore, finding and developing natural materials for vegetable production is significant. Pyrolysis liquid is ideal for organic farming because pyrolysis liquid is a natural organic compound. Many toxic chemicals in agriculture have been replaced by pyrolysis liquid, which is a natural product that has been used to promote the growth and productivity of crops such as rice (*Oriza Sativa*) (Son et al., 2003), sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas*) (Hua et al., 1998), sugar cane (*Saccharum officinarum*) melon (*Cucumis melon*) (Hua et al., 1998). It can also be used to improve fruit quality, resist diseases and insect pests, accelerate seed germination, and as a herbicide (Hua et al., 1998).

2) Alternative medicine

It is believed that pyrolysis liquid can improve body balance and recovery. Toxins can accumulate in the body from various sources, such as polluted air and, as a by-product of our metabolism, chemical pesticide and fertilizers from food. The continued accumulation of toxins results in poor health manifested by weakness, disease and sickness, pains and aches.

Pyrolysis liquid is a prebiotic and is defined as an indigestible food ingredient that positively affects the host by stimulating the growth and activity of one or a limited number of bacteria in the colon so it can improve the health of the host. Consuming less fiber, more meat and carbohydrates, and toxins can reduce the beneficial bacteria in the colon. Pyrolysis liquid is a source of short-chain fatty acids, which can promote acidity in the colon, thereby inhibiting the growth of harmful bacteria, enteropathogenic bacteria (Nakai and Siebert, 2003) and protozoa, *Cryptosporidium parvum* (Kniel et al., 2003) also stimulate the growth of prebiotics, *Enterococcus faecium* and *Bifidobacterium thermosphilum* (Watarai and Tana, 2005). It also reduces the absorption of alkaline carcinogens, improves the absorption of calcium and magnesium, and improves blood circulation.

3) Food processing

Food is affected by many environmental conditions, such as temperature changes, oxidation, and exposure to microbes that may change the original composition. Since food is easily contaminated during manufacturing, processing and storage, it can also cause diseases. Food-borne diseases are underreported, and for millions of people worldwide, this is usually a common and sometimes fatal problem (Vattem et al., 2004).

Food additives play an important role in maintaining the quality and characteristics of food that consumers demand to retain food safety. They can be
classified according to one of their six main functions: preservation, nutritional enhancement, adding or changing colors, filling or changing flavors, and improving texture (Branen, 2002). Due to increased consumer awareness, the worldwide demand for synthetic food additives is declining. Therefore, natural food additives are very popular (Deba et al., 2008). Many natural additives and preservatives are widely used in foods, such as spices, herbs, essential oils, and pyrolysis liquid.

1.3 Objective of research

- To investigate the thermal and chemical properties of three indigenous durian peels, namely Monthong (MDP), Puangmanee (PDP), and Bacho (BDP)
- To investigate the effect of pyrolysis temperature, cooling temperature for liquid product recovery and holding time on the production yield of biochar and pyrolysis liquid from MDP using slow pyrolysis technology.
- To evaluate the economic assessment of the biochar and pyrolysis liquid production from durian peel in large scale.

CHAPTER II RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

2.1 Method

Slow pyrolysis was used in this study to obtain biochar and pyrolysis liquid, and a schematic diagram is shown in Fig. 2.1. The slow pyrolysis reactions were carried out in a vertical, tubular, stainless steel reactor (4 cm inside diameter \times 60 cm high), which was heated by an electric furnace. First, 100 g of dried ground durian peel was placed into the sample tube, then heated at 5 °C/min heating rate and held at the set pyrolysis temperature of 300, 450 or 600 °C for the set holding time after the desired temperature was reached for 30, 60 or 90 min The system was operated under continuous nitrogen (purity-99%) flushing at 50 mL/min (velocity $6.63 \times 10-4$ m/s). To condense the vaporized pyrolysis products, the sample tube was connected to two condensers (Liebig, 2.7 mm inside diameter \times 40 cm total length) insulated with 13 mm thick EPDM (ethylene propylene diene monomer) closed cell elastomeric thermal insulation. Water mixed with ethylene glycol was used as the collecting media, with condensation temperature set at -5, 10 or 25°C during the process. The condensed pyrolysis liquid was collected in a glass bottle next to the condenser. At the same time, the biochar left in the sample tube was collected at the end of the pyrolysis after the system was cooled at room temperature. The collected pyrolysis liquid and biochar were weighted and characterized as described in the next Thermocouple section.



Fig. 2. 1 Schematic diagram of the pyrolysis system

2.2 Material and Equipment

2.2.1 Sample preparation

The durian peels used in this study consist of three types of indigenous durian peel namely Monthong (MDP), Puangmanee (PDP), and Bacho (BDP) which were collected from the local market in Pattani province, Thailand. The samples were initially cut into small pieces, dried at temperature 105 °C for 8-12 hour, crushed, and sieved to an average size within the range of 850 μ m-2.00 mm for further pyrolysis process and with the size of <850 μ m for further characterization.

 Table 2.1 Types of durian fruit and thorny shapes

Durian type	Picture	Fruit shapes	Thorny shapes
PDP		Oval	Pointed-convex
MDP		Oblong	Pointed
BDP		Elliptic	Concave

2.2.2 Characterization method

2.2.2.1 Proximate analysis

The proximate analysis including moisture content, volatile matter, fixed carbon and ash content for all durian peel and biochar samples were determined according to ASTM D7582 by using a LECO TGA701 Macro Thermogravimetric Analyzer (TGA). For each run, a crucible containing 1±0.1 g of the sample was carefully measured and placed inside the furnace zone of the macro TGA. Then weighed test specimens were then heated in crucibles without the covers from 25 to

107°C at 6°C/min until constant mass was reached (the weight loss is moisture content). The crucibles were then covered and the furnace temperature was raised from 107°C to 950°C at 50°C/min and kept for 7 minutes (the weight loss is volatile matter). Later, the furnace was cooled from 950 to 600°C. Then, the crucible covers were removed together and changing the furnace atmosphere to oxygen or air before heating again from 600 to 750°C at 3°C/min until constant mass (about 2 hours) for ash determinations (the weight of remained residue is ash) was obtained. Fixed carbon can be calculated by using the following equation (2.1).

FC (wt. %) =
$$100 - (MC + VM + AC)$$
 (wt. %) (2.1)

where FC is fixed carbon, MC is moisture content, VM is volatile matter and AC is ash content.

2.2.2.2 Ultimate analysis

The ultimate analysis was conducted using a CHNS/O analyzer, Flash 2000, Thermo-Scientific, to quantify the carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen, sulfur, and oxygen, with a higher and lower heating value, in three durian peel and biochar samples. The CHNS/O analyzer examines the elements of C, H, N, S, and O in samples by burning them at a high temperature into a mixed gas separating the quartz reactor between CHNS and O elements. Then, the gas mixture was separated in the column to measure the gas composition and converted to the elemental composition in the durian peel and biochar sample. The Eager Xperience Data Handling Software was used to automatically calculate the high heating value (HHV) and lower heating value (LHV), both of which were given in kcal/kg (in this paper it was converted to MJ/kg).

2.2.2.3 Elemental analysis

The durian peel and biochar samples were prepared for XRF analysis by pressing the obtained powder. The inorganic element of three durian peel samples was analyzed using the semi quantitative analysis of elements by combusting with TGA using X-ray fluorescence spectrometer (XRF), Zetium, PANalytical. The quantitative analytical program is optimized for elements in the range of Oxygen to Uranium. The X-ray generator operates at a voltage between 20 - 60 kV and a current of 40-100 mA.

2.2.2.4 Cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin

According to Georing and Van Soest (1970), Van Soest (1991) and AOAC (2000), Cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin of the durian peel was analyzed, using acid detergent fiber (ADF), neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and, acid detergent lignin (ADL) determination (Vázquez Encalada and Segura Campos, 2021). The dried durian peel was refluxed for 60 minutes in 100 mL of acid detergent solution for the ADF process (a combination of cetyltrimethylammonium bromide technical grade in 1 L 1.0 N H₂SO₄). Subsequently, the samples that had adhered to the side of the refluxed beaker were washed with an acid detergent solution. A vacuum filter was used to filter the refluxed sample through a fritted glass crucible. To achieve a complete fiber transfer into the crucible, the beaker was washed with hot distilled water. Before vacuum drying, the residues were rinsed twice with 40 ml of acetone. To determine the weight of ADF, the fiber residues were then dried overnight in a hotair oven at 100 °C. NDF and an ADL content were calculated using the same method as ADF. A neutral detergent solution is made by mixing EDTA (disodium dihydrogen ethylene diamine tetraacetate), distilled water, sodium borate, lauryl sulfate, 2ethoxyethanol, and disodium phosphate. The solution's pH was maintained between 6.9 and 7.1. The extractive free sample was treated with a 100 mL neutral detergent solution. The extractive free durian samples (the preparation method is described in Vázquez Encalada & Segura Campos (2021) report were obtained by extracting dried biomass in a Soxhlet apparatus. ADL was measured by adding a 72 % H₂SO₄ solution (100 mL) to the ADF sample. The sample was then burned for two hours at 500 °C in a muffle furnace. The amount of hemicellulose was estimated by subtracting NDF from ADF. The difference between ADF and ADL was used to calculate the cellulose fraction.

2.2.2.5 Thermal decomposition analysis

Thermal analysis of the durian peel samples was carried out by using Thermogravimetric analyzer, TGA8000, Perkin Elmer. Prior to the TGA experiment, 10 mg of dried durian peel powder was collected in a small platinum crucible and then thermally purged under a continues inert nitrogen gas (N_2) atmosphere with high purity (99.99%) under a temperature range of 50 to 1000 °C and a 5 °C/min heating rate to evaluate the thermal decomposition of the lignocellulosic material as measured by the mass loss.

2.2.2.6 FT-IR analysis

The chemical functional groups presented from the three durian peel samples were investigated by using the Fourier Transform Infrared Spectrometer (FT-IR), Vertex70, Bruker with KBr pellet techniques. The chromatogram of absorbing infrared light was obtained in the middle of the spectrum range 4,000-400 cm⁻¹.

2.2.2.7 Biochar characterization

1) pH and electrical conductivity (EC)

Before determining the pH and EC, the 1 g biochar was mixed with 20 mL deionized water and shaken for 90 minutes on the shaker (International Biochar Initiative, 2015). Then, the pH and EC of the solution were determined by pH/Conductivity meter (EZ-9909SP, Water quality meter) calibrated with standard buffer solutions (pH 4.0, 7.0 and 10.0) and standard conductivity solution (1413 μ S/cm).

2) Surface area and pore diameter

Firstly, the biochar was degassed at 250 °C in a vacuum condition for 24 h. The porous structure parameters were determined from the nitrogen adsorption isotherm using an automatic Micromeritics ASAP 2460 surface area and porosity analyzer. The specific surface area was calculated using (Brunauer, Emmett and Teller) BET method. Total pore diameter was determined by estimating the amount of nitrogen adsorbed at a relative pressure of p/p° 0.99.

2.2.2.8 Pyrolysis liquid characterization

1) Physicochemical characteristics

The pH and EC were measured using a pH/Conductivity meter (EZ-9909SP, Water quality meter). The specific gravity was measured using a glass hydrometer at 20 ± 0.1 °C. The amount of water in pyrolysis liquid was determined using the Karl Fischer titration method base on ASTM E203 (Volumetric KF Titration, V30S, Mettler-Toledo, Switzerland).

2) Chemical composition

The chemical composition of the pyrolysis liquid product was identified by GC-MS (GC 7890B, MSD 5977A, Agilent Technologies, USA) with VF-WAXms column (30 m x 250 μ m internal diameter x 0.25 μ m film thickness). The samples were diluted with methanol with 1:10 ratio. The conditions for gas chromatography (GC) were as follows: carrier gas, helium at 2.00 mL/min flow rate, split injection mode at 200 °C. The oven temperature profile was established as follows: initial 60 °C hold time of 2 min, 60-250 °C at 5 °C/min, with the final hold time of 10 min resulting in a total run time of 50 min. The volume of sample injected was approximately 2 μ L. The MS analysis was obtained under 230 °C at 70 eV. The relative contents of compounds were calculated by the corresponding peak area.

2.2.3 Design of experiments

The experimental design type as a central composite design (CCD) is widely used to investigate the synergistic impact of factors on a target parameter, often in combination with response surface methodology. In this study, the experimental design with three variables and three levels was used to improve the slow pyrolysis conditions to process durian peel, using Minitab 20.4 software, based on the observed responses (biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields). The three manipulated variables were pyrolysis temperature (A), cooling temperature (B), and holding time (C), as shown in Table 2.2. Pyrolysis temperatures of 300, 450, or 600 °C were set according to the thermal property of durian peel analyzed by TGA. The cooling temperatures, the first at -5 °C was selected as the lowest cooling temperatures possible to condense the pyrolysis liquid without water frozen problem, the second (10 $^{\circ}$ C) is the representative of the temperature of the water chiller, while the third (25 °C) represents the atmospheric temperature. Regarding the holding time, Zhang et al. (2015) investigated that holding times of 1, 2 and 4 h during biochar production from straw did not significantly affect the biochar properties (Zhang et al., 2015). Therefore, the shorter and narrower holding times of 30, 60, and 90 were chosen for this study. The design contained a total of 20 experiments, with 8 cube points and 6 axial points with 6 replicates to ensure the accuracy of the experiment.

Variabla	Unit	Symbol codo	Levels of variable			
v al lable	Unit Symbol code		-1	0	1	
Pyrolysis temperature	°C	А	300	450	600	
Cooling temperature	°C	В	-5	10	25	
Holding time	min	С	30	60	90	

Table 2. 2 Experimental variables and their levels

The data were analyzed using Minitab 20.4 software, optimizing the biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields in the slow pyrolysis. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) of response surface regression, factorial plots, contour plots, surface plots, and response optimization were applied to biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields from the test runs, assessing the quality of the model fits, while an analysis of residuals was performed to assess model adequacy.

2.2.4 Economic analysis

The economic analysis of the commercial product of biochar and pyrolysis liquid from durian peel was performed using the annual cost method for a small industrial scale of 200 kg/day durian peel feed (daily durian peel generation of the community enterprise group).

The economic analysis was computed using Microsoft Excel® (version 365) software. The analysis included calculating the net present value (*NPV*) and the internal rate of return of the project (*IRR*) as shown in Eqs. (2.2)–(2.3) (Reniers et al., 2016).

$$NPV = \sum_{t=0}^{T} \left(X_t / (1+r)^t \right)$$
 (2.2)

where X_t net cash inflow-outflows during a single period in year t, T is The number of time periods, and r is the discount rate. The IRR is rate of return for which the NPV is zero. This can be expressed as follows:

$$NPV = \sum_{n=0}^{T} \left(X_t / (1 + IRR)^t \right) = 0$$
(2.3)

CHAPTER III RESULT AND DISCUSSION

3.1 characteristics of durian peel

3.1.1 Physical and chemical characteristics

The physical and chemical characteristics of three type of durian peels are presented in Table 3.1. Moisture content (3.45-8.71 wt.%) and volatile matter (69.42-73.97 wt.%) of three durian peels showed statistically significant differences. Whereas fixed carbon and ash content of PDP and Bacho durian peels are similar, but exhibit a little bit lower compared to the fixed carbon and ash content of MDP. The moisture content relates to the moisture equilibrium during durian peel sample storage. Higher moisture contain in biomass will require more energy to remove the humidity during pyrolysis process. The fixed carbon content of the biomass can be related to the anticipated yield of solid (biochar) produced during the devolatilization process. It is the carbon found in the material that remains after volatile materials are driven off (Speight, 2015). The characteristics of durian peel varied by type, age, growth conditions and location. The volatile matter and fixed carbon found in durian peels reported by Ngabura et al. (2019) and Tan et al. (2017) were higher than those found in s this study while ash content was similar.

The higher heating value (HHV) ranged 13.81-14.45 MJ/kg and lower heating value (LHV) ranged 12.63-13.21 MJ/kg were found for the three durian peel. The higher concentrations of C and H increases in material energy density, which is directly related to biomass heating value. Normally, both molar ratio of H/C and O/C increasing heating value at molar ratio of H/C increased and O/C decreased. In this study, the three durian peel sample shows H/C and O/C ratio of 1.65-1.69 and 0.81-0.82, respectively (all samples did not differ significantly). The HHV of MDP was 14.32 MJ/kg with an H/C value of 1.69, while the HHV of PDP was 13.81 MJ/kg with a H/C value of 1.65, representing the lowest and highest values, respectively.

Lignocellulose quantitative of the durian peel is presented in Table 3.1. Table 3.1 showed that MDP had more hemicellulose (27.38 wt. %) and less lignin (11.63 wt. %) than both PDP (hemicellulose 21.63 wt. % and lignin 14.71 wt. %) and BDP (hemicellulose 20.98 wt. % and lignin 12.91 wt. %), while the cellulose quantitative had similar content. Report of Tan et al. (2017) had shown hemicellulose, cellulose, and lignin of 13.01, 60.45, and 15.45 wt. %, respectively (Tan et al., 2017) are found to be different from our investigation. It is essential to know the lignocellulosic composition of the biomass because the decomposition temperature varied by the chemical structure and the final pyrolysis products are highly dependent on the composition of raw material.

		This study		Tan et al. (2017)	Ngabura et al. (2019)
Country		Thailand		Ma	laysia
Province	Chanthaburi	Yala	Pattani	n.d.	Selangor
Cultivars	PDP	MDP	BDP	n.d.	D 24
Proximate analysis (wt. %)				
Moisture content	$4.20^b\pm0.09$	3.45°±0.04	$8.71^{a}\pm0.17$	4.96	11.97
Volatile matter	72.81 ^b ±0.69	73.97 ^a ±0.24	69.42°±0.28	70.28	85.00
Fixed carbon	17.13 ^b ±0.64	$18.43^{a}\pm0.37$	16.17 ^b ±0.39	21.65	17.00
Ash content	5.86 ^a ±0.12	$4.16^{b}\pm0.09$	5.70 ^a ±0.01	3.11	4.64
Ultimate analysis					
HHV (MJ kg ⁻¹)	13.81 ^b ±0.26	14.32 ^a ±0.14	$14.45^{a}\pm0.10$	13.79	n.d.
LHV (MJ kg ⁻¹)	12.63 ^b ±0.23	13.09 ^a ±0.13	13.21ª±0.09	n.d.	n.d.
Nitrogen (wt. %)	$0.92^{a}\pm0.02$	0.79°±0.01	$0.87^{b}\pm0.01$	1.31	0.90
Carbon (wt. %)	40.11°±0.07	$40.80^{b}\pm0.15$	41.10 ^a ±0.09	40.98	40.86
Hydrogen (wt. %)	$5.54^{b}\pm0.17$	$5.73^{a,b}\pm 0.06$	$5.80^{a}\pm0.05$	4.44	5.98
Sulfur (wt. %)	$0.10^{a}\pm0.00$	$0.06^{b}\pm0.00$	$0.07^{b}\pm0.00$	0.34	0.07
Oxygen (wt. %)	43.85 ^a ±0.53	$44.12^{a}\pm0.48$	44.51ª±0.21	52.93	52.19
H/C molar ratio	1.65 ^a ±0.05	1.69 ^a ±0.01	$1.69^{a}\pm0.01$	1.30	1.76
O/C molar ratio	$0.82^{a}\pm0.01$	0.81ª±0.01	0.81ª±0.00	0.97	0.96
Chemical compositio	n (wt. % on dry	basis)			
Hemicellulose	21.63	27.38	20.98	13.01	n.d.
Cellulose	51.41	49.01	52.02	60.45	n.d.
Lignin	14.71	11.63	12.91	15.45	n.d.

Table 3.1 Characteristics of dried durian p
--

n.d.= no data

3.1.2 Element component

(mg/kg)

The quantitative analysis of inorganic components presents in all three types of durian peels are shown in Table 3.2. The most abundant element was K (34,880-50,600 mg/kg), which is an essential nutrient that influences most of the biochemical and physiological processes to affect plant development and metabolism (Wang et al., 2013). In addition to K, the macronutrients Mg (3,013-4,260 mg/kg), Ca (2,262-4,190 mg/kg), P (1,349-3,740 mg/kg), and S (1,257-2,310 mg/kg) were detected. The micronutrients of Si (912-1,640 mg/kg), Fe (230-859 mg/kg), Cl (307-420 mg/kg), Na (150 mg/kg), Mn (60-70 mg/kg), Cu (46 mg/kg), and Zn (20-31 mg/kg) were also found in the durian peel. The Fe, Mn, and Cu have an influence on new growth of durian, generating green or yellow veins and Zn has an effect on both old and new leaves, whereby a plant with a Zn shortage could have leaves on top of each other owing to decreased internodal expansion (Brian J. Alloway, 2008). The findings of this study confirmed that no heavy metals were detected in three durian peels. Therefore, biochar produce from the durian peel should contain several macro and micronutrient for growing plant. Moreover, the presence of inorganic elements in durian peel may reveal the possibility of slag, corrosion, and fouling formation during the operation at high temperature. For example at the temperatures above 700 °C, potassium was released to the gas phase as elemental potassium, potassium hydroxide, or potassium chloride, which reacted in the combustor with SiO₂(g, l, s), $SO_2(g)/SO_3(g)$, HCl(g), and $CO(g)/CO_2(g)$ (Stam and Brem, 2019).

PDP	MDP	BDP
50,600	34,880	37,291
3,840	4,260	3,013
4,190	4,030	2,262
3,740	2,990	1,349
2,310	1,470	1,257
1,640	1,010	912
230	350	859
360	420	307
150	n.d.	n.d.
	PDP 50,600 3,840 4,190 3,740 2,310 1,640 230 360 150	PDPMDP50,60034,8803,8404,2604,1904,0303,7402,9902,3101,4701,6401,010230350360420150n.d.

Table 3.2 Total elemental concentration of three durian peel samples used in experiment

Aluminum (Al)	80	40	38
Manganese (Mn)	70	60	n.d.
Rubidium (Rb)	50	60	199
Cupper (Cu)	n.d.	n.d.	46
Zinc (Zn)	20	30	31
Strontium (Sr)	20	20	8

n.d. = not detected

3.1.3 Thermal decomposition analysis

The thermogravimetry (TG) and derivative thermogravimetry (DTG) curves obtained from TGA technique have been used to compare the pyrolysis characteristics and thermal behavior of three durian peels. In general, TGA pattern depends on the composition of biomass and pyrolysis condition. Typically, biomass is composed of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. Under normal heating rates, hemicellulose pyrolysis occurs completely below 350 °C, while cellulose pyrolysis occurs between 250 °C and 500 °C, and lignin pyrolysis occurs slowly within the entire pyrolysis temperature range even over 500 °C, with no significant weight loss peak appearing (Li et al., 2004). As shown in Fig. 3.1, TG and DTG curves for three durian peel samples shows three main stages of thermal degradation. The first stage, the moisture removal or dehydration stage within the range of around 50-180 °C are presented as 6.39, 7.82 and 8.40 % while the second peak was associated with the decomposition of hemicellulose in the ranges of 180 and 230 °C as presented by 13.90, 15.46 and 17.15 % weight loss of PDP, MDP and Bacho durian peel, respectively. The major weight loss at around 230 and 600 °C was associated with the decomposition of cellulose and some part of lignin, in which the weight loss of this major peaks was 49.37, 47.04 and 45.39% for PDP, MDP and BDP, respectively.

Pertaining to the TG and DTG curves, similar trends of the three durian peel samples by the highest peak was observed at 309, 319, and 297 °C, respectively, for PDP, MDP, and BDP (Fig. 3.1(b)). The result is similar to the findings by Aup-Ngoen and Noipitak (2020) who reported the main peak of durian peel occurs between 300 and 310 °C (Aup-Ngoen and Noipitak, 2020). In this research, MDP durian peel was chosen for further study in producing biochar and pyrolysis liquid at pyrolysis temperatures of 400 and 600 °C, which was considered from the TG peak as the



temperature achieved 80% and 90% of total weight loss, respectively.

Fig. 3.1 TGA characterization of the three durian peel: (a) TG curves; (b) DTG curves

3.1.4 FT-IR analysis

Infrared spectroscopy is achieved by organic materials absorbing radiant energy in the range of 4000-667 cm⁻¹, generating vibrational transitions in the bonds within the organic molecules. The spectrum information reveals a functionality. The FT-IR spectra of three durian peel showed similar pattern (Fig. 3.2).



Fig. 3.2 FT-IR spectra of durian peel pattern

The spectra between 3500- 3200 cm⁻¹ broad characteristics reveals O-H stretching induced by hydrogen bonding in the samples of lignin, cellulose, and hemicellulose. The C-H stretching between 2900-2860 cm⁻¹ revealed the formyl group (asymmetrical) as the weak spectra. The spectra seen around 1745 cm⁻¹ which represents C=O stretching containing saturated aliphatic, aldehyde, and ketone. The C=C stretching of aromatic is obviously seen on three samples at spectra found between 1680-1620 cm⁻¹ identifiable to carbonyl C-O stretching. Furthermore, the FT-IR spectra can be characterized as the spectrum of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin.

The hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin spectrum presented in 1450-1400 cm⁻¹ (Adapa et al., 2011), between 1437-1436 cm⁻¹ demonstrated -CH₂ in-plane bending vibration. Another cellulose spectrum contains three distinctive spectra: 1376-1375 cm⁻¹, indicating weak C-O stretching (Yu et al., 2007), 1322-1321 cm⁻¹, implying C-H ring in-plane bending vibrations (Schulz and Baranska, 2007; Wilson et al., 2000), and 1204-1203 cm⁻¹, which is really a cellulose spectrum (Adapa et al., 2011). The hemicellulose spectrum was two special spectra: 1257-1253 cm⁻¹, which reveals acetylated hemicellulose (Himmelsbach and Akin, 1998), and 1035-1034 cm⁻¹, which demonstrates -C-O, C=C and C-C-O vibrational stretching (Schulz and Baranska, 2007; Wilson et al., 2000). The spectrum spectra at 1105 cm⁻¹, which

indicate C-O-C asymmetric stretching and 1060 cm⁻¹, inferencing a - β (1-3) polysaccharide of cellulose (Szeghalmi et al., 2007). Table 3.3 includes a description of all spectrum data from this and other related studies.

ID	Wavenumber (cm ⁻¹)				
Spectra	PDP	MDP	BDP	Aup-Ngoen and Noipitak, 2020	Assignment
1	3421	3412	3411	3338	O-H stretching
2	2919	2920	2923	2918	Aliphatic C-H
					stretching
3	2852	2853			C-H stretching
4	1741	1740	1742	1735	Carbonyl and
					carboxyl C=O
					stretching
5	1630	1628	1625	1601	C=C stretching of
					aromatic of lignin
6	1437	1436	1437	1418	-CH ₂ in-plane
					bending
7	1376	1375	1375		-C-O stretching
8	1321	1322	1321		C-H ring in-plane
					bending vibrations
9	1257	1253	1254	1246	Acetylated
					Hemicellulose
10	1204		1203		Weak C-O stretching
11	1158	1156	1156	1153	C-O-C asymmetric
					stretching of
					cellulose
					-C-O-C ring
					vibrational stretching
12	1105	1105	1105		-C-O stretching
13	1060	1060	1060		-β(1-3)
					polysaccharide
14	1035	1034	1034	1025	-C-O, C=C and C-C-
					O vibrational
					stretching
15	761-537	816-	923-	896-603	Substituted aromatic
		535	535		group

 Table 3.3 Assignment of the FT-IR spectral characteristics of durian peel.

3.2 Biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields

Table 3.4 shows the experimental conditions and the responses (biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields) from slow pyrolysis of durian peel. Different pyrolysis conditions resulted in biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields ranging from 30.06 to 56.11 % and 27.54-38.53 %, respectively. The highest biochar yield of 56.11% was obtained at 300 °C pyrolysis temperature, 25 °C cooling temperature, and 30 min. The maximum liquid amount from pyrolysis of 38.53 % was achieved at 600 °C, -5 °C, and 30 min. The experimentally determined biochar and pyrolysis liquid yield differed from the predicted average of 3.08% and 3.12%, respectively. Moreover, it was shown that the pyrolysis temperature increased, resulting in decreased in biochar yield while increased in pyrolysis liquid yield. Table 3.4 illustrates the estimated biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields from Eqs. (3.1) and (3.2), respectively.

	Pyrolysis	Cooling	Holding	Biochar	Biochar yield (%)		Pyrolysis liquid yield (%)		
Run	Temp. (°C)	Temp. (°C)	time (min)	Observed	Predicted	Observed	Predicted		
1	300	-5	30	48.68	49.29	33.00	33.04		
2	600	-5	30	30.63	30.86	38.53	38.20		
3	300	25	30	56.11	55.01	27.54	28.14		
4	600	25	30	30.06	32.09	37.82	37.54		
5	300	-5	90	48.45	46.64	32.30	33.01		
6	600	-5	90	30.12	31.43	38.39	38.21		
7	300	25	90	50.22	50.22	28.42	29.17		
8	600	25	90	30.91	30.52	38.23	38.61		
9	300	10	60	46.42	48.80	33.16	30.82		
10	600	10	60	32.47	29.73	38.10	38.12		
11	450	-5	60	34.33	34.22	37.28	36.68		
12	450	25	60	36.88	36.62	36.15	34.43		
13	450	10	30	38.59	37.16	35.59	35.26		
14	450	10	90	33.99	35.05	37.76	35.78		
15	450	10	60	33.17	35.01	33.62	35.53		
16	450	10	60	33.86	35.01	32.92	35.53		
17	450	10	60	34.86	35.01	37.89	35.53		
18	450	10	60	34.05	35.01	34.40	35.53		
19	450	10	60	37.03	35.01	33.68	35.53		
20	450	10	60	35.90	35.01	36.64	35.53		

 Table 3.4 CCD matrix, observed and predicted product yields

3.2.1 Analysis of variance (ANOVA)

ANOVA can be applied to evaluate the accuracy of a model and the influence of each input variable on the response variable. Significant input variables of the model are indicated by greater F-value and sufficiently small P-value (≤ 0.05). In statistics, the F-value measures the degree of dissimilarity between samples (Fozer et al., 2019). The ANOVA results for biochar and pyrolysis liquid yield are shown in Tables 3.5 and 3.6. The biochar yield model is remarkable for having a high F-value of 32.24 and a low P-value of 0.000, whereas the pyrolysis liquid yield model has a low F-value of 4.96 and a low P-value of 0.010. Only the pyrolysis temperature is significant among all the linear input variables (pyrolysis and cooling temperatures and holding time). The pyrolysis temperature has the most influence on biochar yield with F-value 36.82 and P-value 0.000. One square term (A^2) also affects the response, with an F-value of 13.12 and a P-value of 0.005; however, only biochar yield is affected by this term.

The values of the regression coefficient (R^2) and adjusted regression coefficient (R^2_{adj}), which theoretically can range from 0 to 100%, provide insights into the accuracy of a model. R^2 and R^2_{adj} values of more than 90% indicate that the model is accurate (Mojaver et al., 2019). High R^2 and R^2_{adj} values show a significant dependence and correlation between the observed and predicted response values. The biochar yield models' R^2 and R^2_{adj} are greater than 90 %, but for the pyrolysis liquid yield model they are lower. The predicted values were closely similar with the experimental results (Table 3.4).

The relations between the input variables and the biochar and pyrolysis liquid yield as response variables are shown below.

Biochar = 109.6 - 0.2394 A + 0.340 B - 0.249 C - 0.000499 AB + 0.000179AC - 0.00119 BC+ 0.000189 A² + 0.00180 B² + 0.00121 C² (3.1)

Pyrolysis liquid = 17.8 + 0.0618 A - 0.325 B + 0.003 C + 0.000471 AB +

 $0.000002 \ AC + 0.00059 \ BC \text{--} \ 0.000047 \ A^2 + 0.00013 \ B^2 \text{--}$

$0.00001 C^2$

(3.2)

Biochar and pyrolysis liquid yield can be estimated using the predictive correlations in Eq. (3.1) and Eq. (3.2) as responses, for model-based optimizing of pyrolysis parameters.

Source	DF ^a	Adj SS ^b	Adj MS ^c	F-Value ^d	P-Value ^e	Remarks
Model	9	1095.90	121.77	32.24	0.000	Significant
Linear	3	940.76	313.59	83.03	0.000	Significant
А	1	915.66	915.66	242.45	0.000	Significant
В	1	14.33	14.33	3.79	0.080	Not significant
С	1	10.77	10.77	2.85	0.122	Not significant
Square	3	137.53	45.84	12.14	0.001	Significant
A^2	1	49.54	49.54	13.12	0.005	Significant
\mathbf{B}^2	1	0.45	0.45	0.12	0.737	Not significant
C^2	1	3.26	3.26	0.86	0.374	Not significant
2-Way	2	17 61	5 07	1 55	0.261	Not significant
Interaction	3	17.01	3.87	1.33	0.201	Not significant
AB	1	10.08	10.08	2.67	0.133	Not significant
AC	1	5.22	5.22	1.38	0.267	Not significant
BC	1	2.31	2.31	0.61	0.452	Not significant
Error	10	37.77	3.78			
Lack-of-Fit	5	27.48	5.50	2.67	0.152	Significant
Pure Error	5	10.29	2.06			
Total	19	1133.66				
\mathbb{R}^2	96.67					
R ² adj	93.67					

Table 3.5 ANOVA for biochar yield

(A=pyrolysis temperature, B=cooling temperature, and C= holding time)

^a degree of freedom

^b adjusted sum of squares

^c adjusted mean of squares

^d the ratio of two variances, or technically, two mean squares.

^e the probability that a particular statistical measure

Source	DF ^a	Adj SS ^b	Adj MS ^c	F-Value ^d	P-Value ^e	Remarks
Model	9	162.856	18.10	4.96	0.010	Significant
Linear	3	147.868	49.29	13.51	0.001	Significant
А	1	134.322	134.32	36.82	0.000	Significant
В	1	12.860	12.86	3.53	0.090	Not significant
С	1	0.686	0.69	0.19	0.674	Not significant
Square	3	5.452	1.82	0.50	0.692	Not significant
A^2	1	3.063	3.06	0.84	0.381	Not significant
\mathbf{B}^2	1	0.002	0.00	0.00	0.980	Not significant
\mathbf{C}^2	1	0.000	0.00	0.00	0.993	Not significant
2-Way	3	9.536	3.18	0.87	0.488	Not significant
Interaction						
AB	1	8.968	8.97	2.46	0.148	Not significant
AC	1	0.001	0.00	0.00	0.987	Not significant
BC	1	0.567	0.57	0.16	0.702	Not significant
Error	10	36.477	3.65			
Lack-of-Fit	5	17.222	3.44	0.89	0.547	Significant
Pure Error	5	19.254	3.85			
Total	19	199.333		0.89		
\mathbb{R}^2	81.70					
\mathbf{R}^2_{adj}	65.23					

Table 3.6 ANOVA for pyrolysis liquid yield

(A=pyrolysis temperature, B=cooling temperature, and C= holding time)

^a degree of freedom

^b adjusted sum of squares

^c adjusted mean of squares

^d the ratio of two variances, or technically, two mean squares.

^e the probability that a particular statistical measure

3.2.2 Diagnostic plots

Diagnostic plots such as the normal probability plot, histogram, versus fits, and versus order were used to assess the validity of the model. Figs. 3.3 and 3.4 show the normal probability and the residual plots of the models for biochar and pyrolysis liquid yield, respectively. The data are normally distributed if the points on the plot are relatively close to the straight line. As demonstrated in Figs. 3.3(a) and 3.4(a), the experimental points on the normal probability plot of residual values were satisfactorily aligned, indicating a normal distribution of fitting errors. Next, histograms were applied to illustrate the findings in Fig. 3.3(b) and 3.4(b). Residue

histograms demonstrate the distribution of residuals over all observations. The figure shows a nearly symmetrical histogram (bell-shaped, i.e., normally distributed errors). Fig. 3.3(c) and 3.4(c) show the residuals with the versus fits (predicted response). The residuals are randomly distributed at about zero, indicating that the error variance is constant. In Fig. 3.3(d) and 3.4(d), the residuals are presented in the order of the relevant observations. The residuals appear to be distributed randomly around zero, and all the other points in Fig.3.3(d) and Fig. 3.4(d) are distributed between +2.5 to -2.



Fig. 3. 3 Residual Plots for biochar yield



Fig. 3. 4 Residual Plots for pyrolysis liquid yield

3.2.3 Effects of input variables on the product yields

The variations of biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields with input variables, i.e., pyrolysis temperature, cooling temperature, and holding time, are shown in Fig. 3.5. The pyrolysis temperature was varied from 300 to 600 °C, and as the pyrolysis temperature increased the biochar production decreased, while the pyrolysis liquid yield increased. Increasing pyrolysis temperature improves decomposition of lignocellulosic material by fragmentation and hydrolysis, and produces volatile recombination products, resulting in a greater pyrolysis liquid yield. Furthermore, as demonstrated in Fig. 3.5, varying the cooling temperature or the holding time did not significantly impact biochar or pyrolysis liquid production (Tables 3.5 and 3.6).



Fig. 3.5 Effects of input variables on (a) biochar yield, and (b) pyrolysis liquid yield

3.2.4 Response surface plots

In order to assess the effects of the three experimental variables on biochar and pyrolysis liquid yield, the value of one variable was kept at a fixed value, and the effects of the other two variables were analyzed, as shown in Fig. 3.6 and 3.7. Fig. 3.6(a) and 3.7(a) show the influence of pyrolysis temperature and cooling temperature on the yield of biochar and pyrolysis liquid at a holding time of 60 min. By increasing the pyrolysis temperature, the biochar yield decreased, and the pyrolysis liquid increased, primarily because higher temperature promoted the thermal decomposition of durian peel and generated gaseous products. Moreover, the yield of biochar and pyrolysis liquid was in the range of 48.68% (-5 °C) to 56.11% (25 °C)

and 33.00% (-5 °C) to 28.42% (25 °C) for pyrolysis temperature 300 °C. In contrast, the yield was between 30.63% (-5 °C) to 30.91% (25 °C) of biochar and pyrolysis liquid between 38.53% (-5 °C) to 38.23% (25 °C) for pyrolysis temperature 600 °C, respectively. These findings indicated that the cooling temperature did not influence biochar yield but pyrolysis liquid yield. The influence of holding time and pyrolysis temperature on biochar and pyrolysis liquid yield at the cooling temperature of 10 °C was shown in Fig. 3.6 (b) and 3.7(b), respectively. With an increase in holding time from 30 to 90 min for a pyrolysis liquid increased from 27.54% to 32.30%, decreased from 30.63% to 30.12% of biochar yield, and increased from 37.82% to 38.39% of pyrolysis liquid yield. Thus, an increase in the holding time resulted in a not significant decrease in biochar yield or an increase in pyrolysis liquid when the pyrolysis temperature was fixed.



Fig. 3. 6 Contour plots and response surface plots for effects of pyrolysis temperature (°C), cooling temperature (°C), and holding time (min) on the biochar yield





Fig. 3. 7 Contour plots and response surface plots for effects of pyrolysis temperature (°C), cooling temperature (°C), and holding time (min) on the pyrolysis liquid yield

3.2.5 Model validation

The optimum condition suggested by the predicted model is 600 °C of pyrolysis temperature, 21.97 °C of cooling temperature and 83.33 min of holding time. Due to the insignificant of the cooling temperature and holding time to the pyrolysis yield, the most economical cooling temperature of 25 °C and 30 min holding time were selected for the model validation with the pyrolysis temperatures of 400 °C and 500 °C which were not the temperature points operated in the experimental design (Table 3.4). As shown in Table 3.7, the experimental biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields nearly matched the model predictions with errors of 0.25-3.47 and 0.66-0.73 %, respectively. As a result, the fitted models served as valuable tools for predicting the pyrolysis yields (biochar and pyrolysis liquid) of durian peel.

 Table 3. 7 Predicted and observed biochar and pyrolysis liquid yields of the model validation run.

Pyrolysis	Biochar yield (%)			Pyrolysis liquid yield (%)		
(°C)	Predicted	Observed	Error	Predicted	Observed	Error
400	38.96	37.61±0.16	3.47	33.85	33.63±0.20	0.66
500	32.54	32.62±0.15	0.25	36.30	36.56 ± 0.22	0.73

3.3 Characteristics of biochar

3.3.1 Physical and chemical characteristics

The results of proximate analysis for all samples are shown in Table 3.8. The pH and electrical conductivity (EC) measurements of biochar under different conditions gave pH in the range 9.25-11.00, and EC of 1,700, and 2,183 μ S/cm. According to a report by Sun et al. (2017), when wheat straw, corn straw and peanut shell were slowly pyrolyzed, it was found that increasing the holding time at a high pyrolysis temperature had minimal influence on the biochar yield or pH (Sun et al., 2017).

Before beginning the BET analysis, it is crucial to validate that there are no traces of tar in the biochar sample by placing a spoon of biochar in a large amount of acetone in a beaker and observing whether the acetone becomes yellow or brown. No tar is present if the acetone color does not change, and the biochar is allowed for BET analysis. Among the biochar samples, it was found some tar contained in the biochar from pyrolysis at 300 °C and 450 °C, thus their BET surface areas were not determined. The surface areas of biochars obtained at a pyrolysis temperature of 600 °C and at durations of 30 and 90 min were 1.2122 and 1.1406 m²/g, while the pore volumes were 0.0021 and 0.0019 cm³/g, respectively. The holding time substantially affects the surface area and porosity of biochar (Li et al., 2020). Similar results on the BET surface area of biochar have been reported by Zhang et al. (2018), finding that the surface area of biochar from tobacco petiole ranged within 0.45-7.51 m²/g (Zhang et al., 2018).

On a dry basis, the durian peel contained dominantly volatile matter at 76.61%, with ash content at 4.31%, and fixed carbon at 19.08%. On the other hand, the biochar produced at pyrolysis temperature of 600 °C and holding time of 90 min had the least volatile matter at 19.70 wt.%, and the highest ash content of 12.34 wt.%. Ash content illustrates the quantity of non-volatile or inorganic matter in the sample. The remaining inorganic matter in biochar presented higher ash content in biochar (6.56-12.34 wt.%) than durian peel (4.31 wt.%). The increase in ash content as a function of increasing pyrolysis temperature in the proximate analysis due to the more significant loss of volatile matter (Setter et al., 2020). At higher temperatures and longer holding times, the amount of volatile matter decreased, in contrast to the increased content of fixed carbon and ash that occurred throughout this process. Hodgson et al. (2016) reported that an increase in holding time (from 120 minutes to 360 min) decreased total carbon production and fixed carbon content (Hodgson et al., 2016). At a pyrolysis temperature of 300 °C, biochar with a lower significant proportion of fixed carbon than volatile matter was produced. The lower fixed carbon content of the sample is associated with the low carbonization degree, as biochar produced at 300 °C did not undergo complete carbonization. (Poudel et al., 2015).

The ultimate analysis results for each sample are presented in Table 3.8, and the molar ratios H/C and O/C are plotted on a Van Krevelen graph in Fig. 3.8 to illustrate the substitutability of biochar for various fossil fuels. The C concentration in biochar samples increased with increasing temperature, but the H and O contents decreased. The highest C content of 74.31 % was obtained at a pyrolysis temperature of 600 °C and a holding time of 30 min, whereas the lowest C content of 40.80 % was

found in the feedstock durian peel. The highest H and O contents were detected in the feedstock durian peel, at 5.73 % and 44.12 %, respectively, while the lowest were found in the biochar pyrolyzed at 600 °C for 90 min at 2.34 % and 13.09 %, respectively. The H and O decreases are due to deoxygenation and dehydration processes that form volatile matter, while breaking of chemical bonds is the primary cause of the separation of H and O at increasing pyrolysis temperatures (Poudel et al., 2015). The N content gradually increased with pyrolysis temperature, achieving a maximum of 1.04 % in biochar pyrolyzed at 450 °C thereafter slightly decreasing.

As pyrolysis temperature increased, the molar ratios H/C and O/C decreased significantly. For example, biochar pyrolyzed at 600 °C for 90 min provided H/C and O/C of 0.38 and 0.13, respectively, decreased from the initial feedstock (durian peel) values of 1.69 for H/C and 0.81 for O/C. Samples pyrolyzed at higher temperatures gave a slower decreasing trend. The decreases in the H/C and O/C molar ratios show that carbonization and aromaticity levels were increasing (Poudel et al., 2015). The molar ratios of H/C and O/C in the pyrolyzed samples indicate their suitability as fuels, as illustrated in the Van Krevelen diagram of Fig. 3.8.

The diagram shows that the durian peel located in the biomass region shifted to peat (biochar produced at 300 °C), lignite (biochar produced at 450 °C), and coal (biochar produced at 600 °C) regions. A preferential selection of biochar samples based on pyrolysis temperature would conclude that biochar prepared at 600 °C is the highest quality for use as a fuel. It demonstrates that greater carbonization and the H/C and O/C molar ratios indicate it is a good substitute for coal and anthracite. Table 3.8 summarizes the higher heating value (HHV) and the lower heating value (LHV) of durian peel and biochar samples. The biochar pyrolyzed at 300 °C had the lowest calculated HHV at 19.77 MJ/kg, while that pyrolyzed at 600 °C had the highest calculated HHV at 26.55-26.59 MJ/kg. Based on the data on the energy content of fuel from the Ministry of Energy (Thailand), the LHV of all biochars pyrolyzed between 300 and 600 °C exceeded that of the lignite discovered in Thailand (10.47-18.42 MJ/kg). However, biochar can also be utilized for adsorption, catalysis, soil conditioning, fuel cell supercapacitor, and hydrogen storage, in addition to serving as an alternative fuel (Cha et al., 2016).

The surface area of biochar also depends on the type and particle size of the raw material. The International Biochar Initiative (IBI) quality standards allow for an optional declaration of surface area (International Biochar Initiative, 2012). According to IBI biochar classification tool (https://biochar-international.org/biocharclassification-tool-interface/), biochar having H/C molar ratio less than 0.7 could be chosen to characterize as carbon storage class. Typically, the pyrolysis of an organic substance produces multiple volatile products and leaves behind a solid residue which is often highly enriched with carbon. Therefore, the biochar derived at 300 and 450 °C pyrolysis temperature which has molar ratio of H/C higher than 0.7 were not classified as IBI carbon storage. Biochar is categorized in this approach based on the amount of organic carbon (C) predicted to persist in soil for at least 100 years (BC+100). This carbon storage value is stock BC+100 (sBC+100) and used to estimate long-term soil carbon sequestration capability of biochar. The biochar samples produced at 600 °C pyrolysis temperature and 30 min holding time demonstrate carbon storage with sBC+100 = 520 g/kg (g of C per kg of soil), this being in the range of carbon storage class 4 ($500g/kg \le sBC+100 < 600g/kg$). According to various studies, using biochar as a soil amendment enhances soil physical properties, hydrological characteristics, water content and operation efficiency, soil fertility, and plant yield. (Garcia et al., 2022).

Holding time (min)		30		90	MDP
Pyrolysis temperature (°C)	300	450	600	600	
pH	9.25°±0.15	$10.42^{b}\pm 0.23$	10.80 ^{a,b} ±0.10	11.00 ^a ±0.10	n.d.
EC (µs/cm)	$1,700^{\circ}\pm100$	1,743°±55	$1,950^{b}\pm50$	2,183 ^a ±76	n.d.
BET surface area (m^2/g)	n.d.	n.d.	1.2122	1.1406	n.d.
Pore volume (cm^3/g)	n.d.	n.d.	0.0021	0.0019	n.d.
Proximate analysis (dry basis	wt. %)				
Volatile matter	59.78 ^a ±0.41	42.13 ^b ±0.92	20.14 ^c ±0.09	19.70°±0.26	76.61±0.28
Fixed carbon	33.66°±0.39	$48.84^{b}\pm0.95$	$68.04^{a}\pm0.07$	$67.97^{a}\pm0.31$	19.08±0.37
Ash	$6.56^{d}\pm0.02$	9.03°±0.04	$11.81^{b}\pm0.02$	$12.34^{a}\pm0.06$	4.31±0.09
Ultimate analysis (wt. %)					
С	56.70°±0.16	$64.56^{b}\pm0.03$	74.31 ^a ±0.23	$74.40^{a}\pm0.14$	40.80 ± 0.15
Н	5.22ª±0.02	$4.40^{b}\pm0.02$	2.47°±0.05	$2.34^{d}\pm0.07$	5.73 ± 0.06
0	33.82 ^a ±0.24	23.79 ^b ±0.17	13.76°±0.11	$13.09^{d} \pm 0.25$	44.12 ± 0.48
Ν	$0.99^{\circ}\pm0.00$	$1.04^{a}\pm0.01$	$1.02^{b}\pm0.01$	$0.93^{d}\pm0.01$	0.78 ± 0.01
S	$0.08^{\circ}\pm0.00$	$0.11^{b}\pm0.01$	$0.15^{a}\pm0.00$	$0.15^{a}\pm0.01$	0.06 ± 0.00
H/C molar ratio	$1.10^{a}\pm0.00$	$0.82^{b}\pm0.00$	$0.40^{c}\pm0.01$	$0.38^{d}\pm0.01$	1.69 ± 0.01
O/C molar ratio	$0.45^{a}\pm0.00$	$0.28^{b}\pm0.00$	$0.14^{c}\pm0.00$	$0.13^{d}\pm0.00$	0.81 ± 0.01

 Table 3.8 Characteristics of biochar samples and durian peel





3.3.2 Thermal decomposition analysis

The thermal stability of biochar can be assessed from thermogravimetric (TG) characterization, and the results are shown in Fig. 3.9(a). The biochar had high thermal stability at the pyrolysis temperature was increased (Sun et al., 2014). The biochar samples obtained at 300, 450, and 600 °C showed total weight losses of 65.32, 45.90, and 27.82 %, respectively. The mass losses of biochar relevant to an amount of decomposed volatile matter and some amount of fixed carbon which can decomposed at the temperature up to 1000 °C during the analysis. The cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin components of the durian peel were volatilized entirely, according to the derivative thermogravimetry (DTG) results (Fig. 3.9(b)), and the weight losses were mainly incurred by the dehydrogenation and aromatization of the biochar in addition to the decomposition of organic components (Balogun et al., 2014). The DTG curve for the durian peel had two peaks at 193 and 319 °C, while the biochar produced at the pyrolysis temperature of 300 °C revealed only one significant

weight loss peak at 328 °C. Hemicellulose pyrolysis in the raw material was responsible for the weight loss in the DTG curve at 193 °C. The thermal decomposition of the durian peel occurred over a wide temperature range (100-600 °C) by the three chemical component degradations overlap (hemicellulose, cellulose, and lignin). The DTG curve between the 110-150 °C of biochar derived at pyrolysis temperature at 600 °C is relevant to the moisture content in the biochar pore. Lei and Zhang (2013) report that biochar with enhanced micro-porosity ideally has higher water retention capability (Lei and Zhang, 2013). While, the DTG curve between the 400-550 °C of biochar derived at pyrolysis temperature at 300 and 450 °C has been identified by various authors as the decomposition of aromatic hydrocarbons of tar contained in the pore of biochar (described in BET result) (Guillh et al., 1996; Wu et al., 2010).





Fig. 3. 9 Thermogravimetric analysis of durian peel and biochar obtained at various pyrolysis temperatures: (a) TG curves; and (b) DTG curves.

3.3 Characteristics of pyrolysis liquid

3.3.1 Properties of pyrolysis liquid

The pyrolysis liquids were obtained for the various pyrolysis temperatures and holding times. Table 3.9 displays the properties of pyrolysis liquid. Acidic pyrolysis liquid indicates the presence of acidic compounds such as acetic acid, butanoic acid, propanoic acid, etc. The pH and EC of pyrolysis liquid increased at higher pyrolysis temperatures. The pyrolysis liquid pH increased at higher pyrolysis temperatures. The pyrolysis liquid pH increased at higher pyrolysis temperatures probably due to the higher amount phenolic compounds are presented from the higher decomposition intensity of lignin component (Sangthong et al., 2022; Theapparat et al., 2019). The specific gravity of pyrolysis liquid exhibited no significant differences, remaining constant between 1.062 and 1.065 g/mL. The water content in all pyrolysis liquids produced were not significantly different and ranged 70.72 wt.% to 72.27 wt.%.

Nowadays, many companies produce pyrolysis liquid for sale, which makes the quality of pyrolysis liquid much differently. Thus, The Thai Industrial Standards Institute (TISI) has set standards for pyrolysis liquid to control the quality of pyrolysis liquid to be consistent and not harmful to users. The community product standards in Thailand assign a pH between 2.8-3.7 and specific gravity of more than 1.005 g/mL (Thai Industrial Standards Institute, 2010). The specific gravity value of all pyrolysis liquid conforms to Thailand's community product standards. However, the quality in terms of pH, only the pyrolysis liquid that produce at high pyrolysis temperature of 450 and 600 °C meet the standard. As mentioned earlier, pyrolysis liquid produce at lower temperature of 300 °C could have lower pH due to the higher portion of acetic acid containing in the pyrolysis liquid (Theapparat et al., 2014).

till	25				
Sample		Parameter			
Holding time (min)	Pyrolysis Temp. (°C)	рН	EC (µs/cm)	Specific gravity (g/mL)	Water content (wt. %)
	300	$2.15^{c}\pm0.05$	$1,930^{d}\pm61$	$1.062^{a}\pm0.004$	69.71 ^b ±0.62
30	450	$2.89^{b}\pm0.06$	$3,350^{\circ}\pm50$	$1.065^{a}\pm0.004$	$70.72^{a,b}\pm0.67$
	600	$2.95^{b}\pm0.05$	$5,300^{a}\pm100$	$1.065^{a}\pm0.002$	$72.27^{a}\pm0.99$
90	600	$3.21^{a}\pm0.04$	$3,550^{b}\pm50$	$1.065^{a}\pm0.003$	$70.78^{a,b} \pm 1.12$
Community Product Standards of Thailand		2.8 - 3.7	-	>1.005	

 Table 3. 9 Properties of pyrolysis liquid derived at various pyrolysis temperatures and holding times

3.3.2 Chemical composition

The compositions of pyrolysis liquid identified by using GC-MS. Pyrolysis liquid is a very complex mixture that contains hundreds of chemical compounds in a wide range of molecular weights. The results were accepted when the constituents with a match percentage > 85% were identified. Table 3.10 shows the total number of 81 main compounds of pyrolysis liquids (run No. 10, in Table 3.4) which can be categorized into hydrocarbon, alcohols, carboxylic acid, ester and aldehyde, ketone, amine and amide, furan and pyran, pyridine, and aromatic. While, the main component of pyrolysis liquid from Chinese fir waste as a biomass showed class of acids, phenols, ketones, aldehydes, and alcohols (Lu et al., 2019)

Many studies have reported on the characterization of pyrolysis liquids obtained from both slow and fast pyrolysis with highly varying variable results depending on each raw material and experimental temperature (Lu et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2017; Theapparat et al., 2014). Acetic acid, Butanoic acid, 1-hydroxy-2-Propanone, 2-furan-carboxaldehyde, 2-hydroxy-methyl-2-Cyclopenten-1-one, and Phenol, 2,6-dimethoxy- were the top 6 high area percentage chemical compounds shown in both pyrolysis liquid samples. However, similar groups of compounds were reported detected in the pyrolysis liquid. The pyrolysis liquid from mangosteen, rambutan, and Langsat brushwood waste represents acetic acid with a peak area of 23.22%, 24.58%, and 23.98%, respectively. The total organic acid peak area is 29.1%, 29.65%, and 29.61%, respectively (Theapparat et al., 2019). According to Kim et al. (2008), most of the contact poison qualities of pyrolysis liquid are caused by the presence of acetic acid, which can destroy the permeability of an insect's cuticle, resulting in its death (Kim et al., 2008). Other volatile fatty acids, including formic acid, valeric acid, and propanoic acid, have also been demonstrated to be termiticides (Yatagai et al., 2002).

Some of the important components discovered in this study included hydroquinone, and catechol. Vanillin has been utilized in the production of medicines, cosmetics, and other fine chemicals as a chemical intermediary. Hydroquinone is used in a variety of industries and occupations, including dermatological (Nordlund et al., 2006). Catechol component summarily utilized as a raw material in the production of polymerization inhibitors, perfumes, medicines, insecticides, dyes, and in the dyeing and tanning of fur and leather, as well as photographic developers, deoxygenating agents, and analytical reagents (Fiege et al., 2000). According to Suresh et al. (2019), another investigation showed the presence of vanillin and catechol in pyrolysis liquid derived from softwood (Suresh et al., 2019), while Ma et al. (2014) identified hydroquinone components in pyrolysis liquid from *S. chinensis* residue as a raw material (Ma et al., 2014).

Additionally, in the literature review, the chemical of pyrolysis liquids contains various compounds, including acetic acid and short-chain acids, nonaromatic ketones, furans, sugar monomers, and oligomers (holocellulose derivatives), as well as methoxyphenols (lignin derivatives) (Urrutia et al., 2022). Yang et al. (2016) found that highly phenolic compositions in the pyrolysis liquid product from *Litchi chinensis* can be used as an antioxidant activity comparable to the reference standards (vitamin C and butylated hydroxyl toluene) at the same dose (Yang et al., 2016). Similarly reported by Zhu et al. (2021), pyrolysis liquid promotes crop growth. It enhances biological and abiotic resistance of crop by finding the highest relative phenols, derivatives, and organic acid content (Zhu et al., 2021). Therefore, the pyrolysis liquid produced in this student could be further applied as plant stimulants. Moreover, pyrolysis liquid has numerous usages including insect repellents, plant growth promoters, plant fertilizers and feed additives, antifungal and antibacterial agents, and herbicides (César et al., 2019).

temperature				
No.	Component RT	Compound name Component RT	Formula	% Area of total
Hydr	ocarbon			-
1	4.887	1-Butene, 3,3-dimethyl-	C6H12	-
Alco	hols			3.23
2	4.612	2-Propen-1-ol	C ₃ H ₆ O	0.06
3	15.053	Propylene Glycol	$C_3H_8O_2$	0.12
4	16.053	1,2-Ethanediol, monoacetate	$C_4H_8O_3$	0.35
5	17.922	2-Pentenal, 2-methyl-	$C_6H_{10}O$	0.18
6	29.515	1,2,3-Propanetriol	$C_3H_8O_3$	2.52
Carb	oxylic acid, ester, ar	nd aldehyde		<u>36.34</u>
7	10.200	Acetic acid, hydroxy-, methyl ester	$C_3H_6O_3$	0.11
8	11.434	Acetic acid	$C_2H_4O_2$	26.56
9	13.200	Formic acid	CH_2O_2	0.56
10	13.835	Propanoic acid	$C_3H_6O_2$	2.30
11	16.922	Butanoic acid, 2-methyl-	$C_{5}H_{10}O_{2}$	0.48
12	18.422	Pentanoic acid	$C_5H_{10}O_2$	0.07
13	19.207	2-Butenoic acid, (E)-	$C_4H_6O_2$	0.18
14	27.084	Butanoic acid, anhydride	$C_8H_{14}O_3$	3.78
15	28.110	2-hydroxypropane-1,3-diyl diacetate	$C_7H_{12}O_5$	0.28
16	28.958	Glycerol monoacetate, mixture of 2 isomers	$C_5H_{10}O_4$	1.81
17	31.608	Benzoic acid	$C_7H_6O_2$	0.16
18	33.680	Vanillin	$C_8H_8O_3$	0.05
19	39.357	Syringaldehyde	$C_9H_{10}O_4$	-
Keto	ne			<u>13.44</u>
20	5.897	Cyclopentanone	C5H8O	-
21	6.415	Cyclopentanone, 2-methyl-	$C_6H_{10}O$	0.03
22	7.945	2-Butanone, 3-hydroxy-	$C_4H_8O_2$	0.47
23	8.306	2-Propanone, 1-hydroxy-	$C_3H_6O_2$	5.17

Table 3.10 Identified compounds in durian peel pyrolysis liquid at different pyrolysis

57

No.	Component RT	Compound name Component RT	Formula	% Area of total
24	8.992	2,4-Hexadienal	C ₆ H ₈ O	-
25	9.589	2-Cyclopenten-1-one	C5H6O	1.11
26	9.873	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 2-methyl-	C ₆ H ₈ O	0.33
27	9.978	1-Hydroxy-2-butanone	$C_4H_8O_2$	0.92
28	12.105	2-furan-carboxaldehyde	C5H4O2	-
29	12.541	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 3,4-dimethyl-	C7H10O	0.17
30	12.568	4,4-Dimethyl-2-cyclopenten-1-one	C7H10O	-
31	13.440	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 3-methyl-	C ₆ H ₈ O	0.74
32	13.751	2-Butanone, 1-(acetyloxy)-	$C_{6}H_{10}O_{3}$	0.12
33	13.946	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 2,3-dimethyl-	C7H10O	-
34	14.273	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 2,3,4-trimethyl-	$C_8H_{12}O$	0.03
35	18.116	4-Hexen-3-one, 4,5-dimethyl-	$C_8H_{14}O$	-
36	18.200	4-Hepten-3-one, 4-methyl-	$C_8H_{14}O$	0.08
37	19.040	1,2-Cyclopentanedione	$C_5H_6O_2$	0.28
38	19.596	2-Hydroxy-3,5-dimethylcyclopent-2-en-1-one	C7H10O2	0.27
39	20.312	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 2-hydroxy-3-methyl-	$C_6H_8O_2$	2.01
40	20.547	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 2-hydroxy-3,4-dimethyl-	$C_7H_{10}O_2$	0.08
41	21.682	2-Cyclopenten-1-one, 3-ethyl-2-hydroxy-	$C_7H_{10}O_2$	0.65
42	26.997	2-Hydroxy-gamma-butyrolactone	$C_4H_6O_3$	0.42
43	34.862	1-(3-Hydroxy-4-methoxyphenyl) ethanone	C9H10O3	0.19
44	35.133	2-Propanone, 1-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-	$C_{10}H_{12}O_3$	0.37
Amir	ne and amide			<u>2.51</u>
45	11.050	N, N-Dimethylacetamide	C4H9NO	0.03
45	25.485	1,3-Propanediamine	$C_3H_{10}N_2$	2.48
Furan and pyran			<u>5.97</u>	
47	6.837	Furan, 2-(methoxymethyl)-	$C_6H_8O_2$	-
48	7.439	3(2H)-Furanone, dihydro-2-methyl-	$C_5H_8O_2$	0.06
49	13.071	Ethanone, 1-(2-furanyl)-	$C_6H_6O_2$	0.55
50	13.652	4-(hydroxymethyl) dihydro-2H-pyran-3(4H)-one	$C_{6}H_{10}O_{3}$	0.09
51	14.697	2-Furancarboxaldehyde, 5-methyl-	$C_6H_6O_2$	0.64
52	16.418	xi-3,5-Dimethyl-2(5H)-furanone	$C_6H_8O_2$	0.18
53	16.639	2-Furanmethanol	$C_5H_6O_2$	1.81
54	17.057	2(5H)-Furanone, 5-methyl-	$C_5H_6O_2$	0.12
55	18.703	2(5H)-Furanone	$C_4H_4O_2$	0.27
56	19.823	2H-Pyran-2-one, tetrahydro-	$C_5H_8O_2$	0.25
57	23.088	Maltol	$C_6H_6O_3$	0.72
58	30.935	1,4:3,6-Dianhydro-α-D-glucopyranose	$C_6H_8O_4$	0.84
59	32.664	5-Hydroxymethylfurfural	$C_6H_6O_3$	0.44
Pyric	line			<u>1.46</u>
60	6.016	Pyridine	C ₅ H ₅ N	-
61	6.648	Pyridine, 2-methyl-	C ₆ H ₇ N	0.08
No.	Component RT	Compound name Component RT	Formula	% Area of total
------	--------------	--	----------------------------------	-----------------
62	7.231	Pyridine, 2,3-dimethyl-	C7H9N	0.02
63	9.370	Pyridine, 2,4-dimethyl-	C7H9N	0.03
64	10.348	Pyridine, 3-ethyl-	C7H9N	0.01
65	24.518	2-Pyrrolidinone	C ₄ H ₇ NO	0.19
66	31.327	3-Pyridinol	C5H5NO	1.13
Aron	natic			<u>14.65</u>
67	20.952	Phenol, 2-methoxy-	$C_7H_8O_2$	1.14
68	22.924	Creosol	$C_8H_{10}O_2$	0.48
69	24.386	Guaiacol, 4-ethyl-	$C_9H_{12}O_2$	0.33
70	28.718	Phenol, 2,6-dimethoxy-	$C_8H_{10}O_3$	3.20
71	30.211	3,5-Dimethoxy-4-hydroxytoluene	C9H12O3	0.76
72	31.189	5-tert-Butylpyrogallol	$C_{10}H_{14}O_3$	0.75
73	32.750	1,2-Benzenediol, 3-methoxy-	$C_7H_8O_3$	0.38
74	33.334	Phenol, 2,6-dimethoxy-4-(2-propenyl)-	$C_{11}H_{14}O_3$	0.09
75	35.822	Catechol	$C_6H_6O_2$	2.60
76	36.897	1,2-Benzenediol, 4-methyl-	C7H8O2	0.84
77	39.854	Benzene propanol, 4-hydroxy-3-methoxy-	$C_{10}H_{14}O_3$	-
78	40.151	1,4-Benzenediol, 2-methyl-	C7H8O2	1.28
79	41.042	2-Ethylbenzene-1,4-diol	$C_8H_{10}O_2$	0.43
80	40.389	1-(4-hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxyphenyl) propan-2-one	$C_{11}H_{14}O_4$	0.61
81	40.535	Hydroquinone	$C_6H_6O_2$	1.76

In relation to the investigation of durian peel processing in this study, it is worth noting here that should be applied to another international waste or residue. The biomass with similar content of C, H, and O to durian peel for example wheat straw which has 43.60 wt.%, 6.20 wt.%, and 44.32 wt.%, the peach pulp which has 44.51 wt.%, 6.73 wt.%, and 45.38 wt.%, and the paper waste which has 40.78 wt.%, 5.73 wt.%, and 51.28 wt.%, respectively (Neves et al., 2011) might be beneficial to use the slow pyrolysis at similar operating conditions which could lead to similar profile of the pyrolysis products. However, these issues must be investigated further in the future.

3.4 Economic analysis

An economic analysis of commercial production of biochar and pyrolysis liquid from durian peel was performed using the annual cost method. The annual cost is the sum of the fixed costs and operating costs of the complete pyrolysis process. The operating condition, product yields and characteristics of run No. 4 (Table 3.4, 30.06% of biochar and 37.82% of pyrolysis liquid yield) were used for the economic analysis based on the economical cooling temperature and holding time and the best product quality.

3.4.1 Fixed costs

Table 3.11 describes several assumptions that were made to estimate the annual fixed costs of the pyrolysis unit. Table 3.12 details the initial cost of the complete pyrolysis plant. The capacity of pyrolysis units (Fig. 3.10) is established for 200 kg/day durian peel having 70% initial moisture content, running 4 batches/day (2 h for each batch production). A shredder is for cutting the raw durian peel into a smaller size of 2×3 cm. The durian peel pieces are then dried in a solar dome to reduce the moisture amount to 10.0%. 50 kg of dried durian peel will be fed to the pyrolysis reactor for each cycle, and this system was continuously flushed with nitrogen at 5 L/min (total 60 min include the flushing before heating and the cool down process). LPG is used as fuel for heating to a pyrolysis temperature of 600 °C and holding for 30 min. The vapors from the decomposition of lignocellulose are carried out of the reactor by N₂ flushing to the condensation unit, and cooling water in the chiller is set at 25 °C. Moreover, additional equipment is required for operation with this unit, as shown in Table 3.12, and the sum of \$1,680.00 is designated for civil construction.

Moreover, the uncondensed product gas is suggested to be recycled to combine with LPG for heating the system for cost-saving and environmentally friendly reasons. The uncondensed product gas contains 25-39% carbon monoxide (CO), 21-29% hydrogen (H₂), 29-33% carbon dioxide (CO₂), 6-10% methane (CH₄), and 2-4% C₂-C₄ hydrocarbons (Ghenai, 2010; Waheed et al., 2013) reported that natural gas or methane fuel can be replaced with uncondensed product gas in gas turbines. Hence it is possible to safely combine uncondensed product gas with LPG using the proper designed system (Ghenai, 2010). However, the saving from recycling uncondensed product gas is not accounted for in the economic analysis because its exact heating value was not measured in the batch experiment.



Fig. 3. 10 The batch pyrolysis unit model for 50 kg durian peel feed

Parameter	Assumption	Unit
Financing	100	%
Pyrolysis unit availability	300	days/year
Pyrolysis unit depreciation period	10	year
Interest on investment	10	%
Capacity (9.42% moisture durian peel)	200	kg/day
Quantity of batch	50	kg
Annual capacity	60	ton
Fuel (LPG)	15.65 ^a	kg/day
Nitrogen flow (5 L/min)	1.2 ^b	m ³ /day
Electricity for chipping and grinding	900 ^c	kWh/year
Electricity for cooling	4,941 ^d	kWh/year
Cooling water	84 ^e	L/year
Antifreeze coolant	16.8 ^f	L/year
Total annual operating hours	1,800	hr

 Table 3. 11 Assumptions for pyrolysis unit

^a total heat required including 20% heat losses is 150.53 MJ/batch convert to kg LPG is 3.01 kg/batch

^b the N₂ gas usage is 5 L/min, process duration from start to finish is 60 min/batch

^c the power consumption of shredder is 15 kWh/ton biomass

^d the power consumption of chiller is 3.05 kWh and % compressor is 90%

^e the capacity of water tank is 12 L and make-up water use is 50% / month

^f in the process of using water: ethylene glycol at the ratio of 80:20 (Engineering ToolBox, 2003) for cooling water

Item description	Quantity	Price (USD)	Reference
Pyrolysis unit (50	1	16,800.00	Estimate by Siam
kg/batch) ^a			technoscience co., ltd.
Shredder ^b	1	2,241.12	(Energy789, 2017)
Solar dome ^c	1	836.64	(Shopee, 2020)
Chiller ^d	1	1,149.12	(LAZADA, 2021a)
Equipment for products			A. scientific
quality analysis			equipment limited
pH meter	1	134.40	partnership
EC/TDS/Temperature	1	198.24	
tester			
Hydrometer	2	134.40	
Installation cost		1,680.00	10% of pyrolysis unit
			cost
Miscellaneous equipment		2,149.39	10% of all equipment
			except pyrolysis unit
			(Ringer et al., 2006)
	<u>Total cost</u>	25,323.31	

Table 3. 12 The initial cost of pyrolysis units

^a the horizontal cylinder reactor, volume of pyrolysis unit reactor is 0.28 m³ (0.4 m diameter and 2.2 m height)

^b diameter of cutting disc is 420 mm, 200 rpm speed, 15 kW motor power, and 1.0 ton/hr capacity ^c dimension of solar dome is $2.00 \times 0.85 \times 1.30$ m, width $\times \log \times$ height

3.4.2 Operating costs

The operating costs comprise repair and maintenance costs, labor costs, the cost of procuring and transporting durian peel, LPG, electricity for the shredder and chiller, DI water and ethylene glycol for the cooling system, and the cost of supplying nitrogen to the reactor. Table 3.13 presents the assumptions made to work out the operating costs of the pyrolysis unit. Table 3.14 shows the fixed and operating costs per annum and per kg of durian peel biomass feed to the pyrolysis unit.

Assumption	Unit	Reference
10	%	(Cheng et al., 2020)
10	%	(Cheng et al., 2020)
8,266	USD/worker/annum	(Ministry of Labour, 2022)
0.76	USD/kg	(Ministry of Energy, 2022)
0.17	USD/kW	(Provincial Electricity Authority, 2022)
0.43	USD/L	(Lab valley, 2022)
2.80	USD/L	(LAZADA, 2020)
20.72	USD/m ³	Pattani Oxygen co., ltd.
84.00	USD	
44.80	USD	
39.20	USD	
182.00	USD/month	
44.80	USD	
98.00	USD	(Office Of Scientific Instrument and
39.20	USD	Testing, 2022)
106.40	USD/month	
78.40	USD	
2.80	USD	
2.80	USD	
2.00	USD	
22.40	% /sales	(Wicks 2022)
	Assumption 10 10 8,266 0.76 0.17 0.43 2.80 20.72 84.00 44.80 39.20 182.00 44.80 39.20 106.40 28.0 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.40 20	Assumption Unit 10 % 10 % 10 % 8,266 USD/worker/annum 0.76 USD/kg 0.17 USD/kW 0.43 USD/L 2.80 USD/L 20.72 USD/m ³ 84.00 USD 44.80 USD 39.20 USD/month 44.80 USD 39.20 USD/month 44.80 USD 39.20 USD/month 44.80 USD 106.40 USD 39.20 USD 2.80 USD 39.20 USD 106.40 USD 2.80 USD

Table 3. 13 Assumptions made to work out operating costs

.

Item	USD/Annum	USD/ton of durian peel
Cost estimate		
A) fixed cost estimates		
Depreciation cost	2,532.33	42.21
Interest on investment	1,266.17	21.10
Sum of fixed costs	3,798.50	63.31
B) Operating cost estimates		
Repair and maintenance cost	2,532.33	42.21
Labor cost	8,265.60	137.76
LPG cost	3,576.78	59.61
Electricity cost for chopping and grinding	154.73	2.58
Electricity cost for cooling	849.46	14.16
DI water cost	36.46	0.61
Antifreeze Coolant	47.04	0.78
Nitrogen cost	7,459.20	124.32
Biomass analysis	1,008.00	16.80
Biochar analysis	2,184.00	36.40
Pyrolysis liquid analysis	1,276.80	21.28
Marketing fee and packaging	12,139.51	202.33
Sum of operating costs	39,529.90	658.83
<u>Total cost</u>	<u>43,328.40</u>	<u>722.14</u>
Income from pyrolysis products		
Biochar ^a	17,675.28	294.59
Pyrolysis liquid ^b	41,299.44	688.32
<u>Total revenue</u>	<u>58,974.72</u>	<u>982.91</u>
Payback period		<u>1.58</u>
IRR (%)		<u>25.91</u>

Table 3. 14 Cost analysis of the 200 kg per day capacity durian peel biomass pyrolysis unit

^a biochar quantity of 300.6 kg/ ton durian peel, price for sale is 0.98 USD/kg (Bambooreform, 2022)
 ^b pyrolysis liquid quantity of 378.2 L/ton durian peel, price for sale is 1.82 USD/L (LAZADA, 2021b)

3.4.3 Net revenue generation from pyrolysis of durian peel

Based on the above result at run No. 4 (Table 3.4), the pyrolysis products comprised 30.06% biochar and 37.82% pyrolysis liquid. This means one ton of durian peel can produce 300.6 and 378.2 kg of biochar and pyrolysis liquid on processing through the pyrolysis plant. Table 3.14 indicates that the total income from the sale of pyrolysis products obtained from one ton of durian peel is \$982.91, whereas

the cost of producing these pyrolysis products is \$722.14 (Table 3.14). This showed a net saving of \$260.77 for processing one ton of durian peel through the pyrolysis unit. According to data from the Bureau of Agricultural Economic Research, in 2021, the durian peel availability was 282,390 tons. If 50% of this is processed through pyrolysis units, the durian growers of the country can earn \$36.82 million per annum from durian peel. Moreover, the financial projections provide the foundation for the cash flow calculations used to determine the net present value (NPV) and internal rate of return (IRR). This paper uses function economic in the Excel program to calculate at a 10% discount rate in the ten years of the pyrolysis unit period. The NPV is positive at \$26,222.29, with an IRR of 25.91% and a discounted payback period of 1.58 years. The results indicate that, provided the assumptions made are approximately correct, the project would be profitable.

The performance of commercial biochar production was able to process 380 kg/h of woody biomass feedstock (dry basis) to produce 63 kg/h of biochar with a mean electricity demand of 4.5 kW (Severy et al., 2018). Another report shows the feedstock capacity of 0.5 ton/h at 550 °C could achieve 19-38 % of biochar yield and 38-62% of liquid yield in different biomass types (Garcia-Nunez et al., 2017). Hence, it reveals that the investigation of durian peel processing to biochar and pyrolysis liquid in current study has a potential to be commercialized.

CHAPTER IV CONCLUSION

4.1 Summary

This study uses a slow pyrolysis process to produce biochar and pyrolysis liquid from durian peel. Firstly, the characterization of three durian peels (Monthong (MDP), Puangmanee (PDP), and Bacho(BDP)) was analyzed for optimal characteristics for the following process then MDP was chosen to be used in the slow pyrolysis process. Secondly, the central composite design (CCD) was used for an experimental design using MINITAB software to analyze the result. Finally, the economic assessment was assessed on a large scale using the optimum quality and quantity of pyrolysis products. The main output of this research can be summarized as follows:

• The physical and chemical characteristics of the three durian peels showed slight differences in the characteristics of three durian peels. Three durian peels showed statistically significant differences in moisture content (3.45-8.71%) and volatile matter (69.42-73.97%). The higher heating value (HHV) ranged from 13.81-14.75 MJ/kg, and the lower heating value (LHV) ranged from 12.63-13.21 MJ/kg found for the three durian peels. The three durian peel sample shows H/C and O/C ratio of 1.65-1.69 and 0.81-0.82, respectively. Lignocellulose quantitative of the durian peel showed that MDP had more hemicellulose (27.38 wt. %) and less lignin (11.63 wt. %) than both PDP (hemicellulose 21.63 wt. % and lignin 14.71 wt. %) and Bacho (hemicellulose 20.98 wt. % and lignin 12.91 wt. %), while the cellulose quantitative had similar content. The most abundant element was K (34,880-50,600 mg/kg).

• The slow pyrolysis process can produce valuable products, such as biochar and pyrolysis liquid. RSM was used to design biochar and pyrolysis liquid production, and the ANOVA analysis found that practically only the pyrolysis temperature affects both product yields.

• The yield of biochar was decreased, while pyrolysis liquid was increased at a high pyrolysis temperature: (1) the highest biochar yield (56.11 wt. %)

obtained at pyrolysis temperatures of 300 °C, (2) the highest pyrolysis liquid (38.53 wt. %) obtained at pyrolysis temperatures of 600 °C.

• The economic analysis of the pyrolysis process, for a capacity of 0.2 tons per day, found that the IRR of this project is 25.91%, with a payback period of 1.58 years. Therefore, this process would recycle durian waste and other agricultural waste by converting them to value-added products.

4.2 Suggestions

- The durian peel was used in the pyrolysis process, which should decrease the moisture content less than 15%.
- The particle of durian peel should not be smaller than 0.85 mm caused that obstructing the exit of the hot vapor (reactor used in this research).
- During the experiment, continuous flow of N₂ gas should be for increased yield of pyrolysis liquid.
- The condenser used in this process should be stainless condenser to protect the equipment cracking.
- The bottle used to store the pyrolysis liquid should be used in the grass bottle, and the lid should be completely closed.

APPENDIX

Permission to publish

1. Biomass & bioenergy **Billing Status:** Open Article: The biochar, and pyrolysis liquid characteristics, of three indigenous durian peel; Monthong, Puangmanee, and Bacho 1388217-1 Order License ID Type of Use Republish in a thesis/dissertation Order detail status Completed Publisher PERGAMON ISSN 0961-9534 Portion Chapter/article 0.00 USD **Republication Permission** LICENSED CONTENT -----_____ **Publication Title** Biomass & bioenergy Rightsholder Elsevier Science & **Technology Journals** Article Title The biochar, and pyrolysis liquid characteristics, of **Publication Type** Journal three indigenous durian Start Page 106816 peel; Monthong, Volume 174 Puangmanee, and Bacho Date 01/01/1991 English Language United Kingdom of Great Country Britain and Northern Ireland **REQUEST DETAILS Portion Type** Chapter/article Distribution Other territories and/or countries Page Range(s) 1-12 Enter Territories/Countries Thailand **Total Number of Pages** 12 Original language of Translation Format (select all that Print, Electronic publication apply) Copies for the Disabled? No Who Will Republish the Academic institution Minor Editing Privileges? Content? No Incidental Promotional **Duration of Use** Life of current edition Yes Use? **Lifetime Unit Quantity** Up to 499 Currency USD **Rights Requested** Main product, any product related to main product, and other compilations/derivative products NEW WORK DETAILS _____ Title Production and Institution Name Prince of Songkla University Characterization of Biochar **Expected Presentation** 2024-01-31 and Liquid Product from Date Slow Pyrolysis of Durian Peel

ADDITIONAL DETAILS

N/A

Ajchareeya Manmeen

Order Reference Number

Instructor Name

The Requesting Person/Organization to Appear on the License Prince of Songkla University

REQUESTED CONTENT DETAILS

Title, Description or Numeric Reference of the Portion(s)	The biochar, and pyrolysis liquid characteristics, of three indigenous durian peel; Monthong, Puangmanee, and Bacho	Title of the Article/Chapter the Portion Is From	The biochar, and pyrolysis liquid characteristics, of three indigenous durian peel; Monthong, Puangmanee, and Bacho
Editor of Portion(s)	Manmeen, Ajchareeya; Kongjan, Prawit; Palamanit, Arkom; Jariyaboon, Rattana	Author of Portion(s)	Manmeen, Ajchareeya; Kongjan, Prawit; Palamanit, Arkom; Jariyaboon, Rattana
Volume / Edition	174	Publication Date of Portion	2023-07-01
Page or Page Range of Portion	106816		

1. Industrial crops and products

Article: Biochar and pyrolysis liquid production from durian peel by using slow pyrolysis process: Regression analysis, characterization, and economic assessment

Order License ID	1388218-1	Type of Use	Republish in a thesis/dissertation
Order detail status		Publisher	ELSEVIER BV
15510	0926-6690	Portion	Chapter/article
			0.00 USD
			Republication Permission
LICENSED CONTENT			
Publication Title	Industrial crops and products	Rightsholder	Elsevier Science & Technology Journals
Article Title	Biochar and pyrolysis liquid	Publication Type	Journal
	production from durian peel	Start Page	117162
	by using slow pyrolysis process: Regression analysis, characterization, and economic assessment	Volume	203
Date	01/01/1992		
Language	English		
Country	Netherlands		
REQUEST DETAILS			
Portion Type	Chapter/article	Distribution	Other territories and/or
Page Range(s)	1-15		countries
Total Number of Pages	15	Enter Territories/Countries	Thailand
Format (select all that apply)	Print, Electronic	Translation	Original language of publication
Who Will Republish the	Academic institution	Copies for the Disabled?	No
Content?		Minor Editing Privileges?	No
Duration of Use	Life of current edition	Incidental Promotional	Yes
Lifetime Unit Quantity	Up to 499	Use?	
Rights Requested	Main product, any product related to main product, and other compilations/derivative products	currency	USU
NEW WORK DETAILS			
Title	Production and	Institution Name	Prince of Songkla University
	Characterization of Biochar and Liquid Product from Slow Pyrolysis of Durian Peel	Expected Presentation Date	2024-01-31
Instructor Name	Ajchareeya Manmeen		
ADDITIONAL DETAILS			
Order Reference Number	N/A	The Requesting Person/Organization to Appear on the License	Ajchareeya Manmeen

Billing Status: Open

REQUESTED CONTENT DETAILS

Title, Description or Numeric Reference of the Portion(s)	Biochar and pyrolysis liquid production from durian peel by using slow pyrolysis process: Regression analysis, characterization, and economic assessment	Title of the Article/Chapter the Portion Is From	Biochar and pyrolysis liquid production from durian peel by using slow pyrolysis process: Regression analysis, characterization, and economic assessment
Editor of Portion(s)	Manmeen, Ajchareeya; Kongjan, Prawit; Palamanit, Arkom; Jariyaboon, Rattana	Author of Portion(s)	Manmeen, Ajchareeya; Kongjan, Prawit; Palamanit, Arkom; Jariyaboon, Rattana
Volume / Edition	203	Issue, if Republishing an	N/A
Page or Page Range of	117162	Article From a Serial	
Portion		Publication Date of Portion	2023-11-01

REFFERENCE

- Adapa, Tabil, L., Schoenau, G.J., Canam, T., Dumonceaux, T., 2011. Quantitative analysis of lignocellulosic components of non-treated and steam exploded Barley, Canola, Oat and wheat straw using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy. J. Agric. Sci. Technol. B1, 177–188.
- Ahmad, M., Lee, S.S., Dou, X., Mohan, D., Sung, J.-K., Yang, J.E., Ok, Y.S., 2012. Effects of pyrolysis temperature on soybean stover- and peanut shell-derived biochar properties and TCE adsorption in water. Bioresour. Technol. 118, 536– 544. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.05.042
- Akhtar, J., Saidina Amin, N., 2012. A review on operating parameters for optimum liquid oil yield in biomass pyrolysis. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 16, 5101–5109. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.05.033
- Al Afif, R., Anayah, S.S., Pfeifer, C., 2020. Batch pyrolysis of cotton stalks for evaluation of biochar energy potential. Renew. Energy 147, 2250–2258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.09.146
- Alves, E.F., Bose, S.K., Francis, R.C., Colodette, J.L., Iakovlev, M., Van Heiningen, A., 2010. Carbohydrate composition of eucalyptus, bagasse and bamboo by a combination of methods. Carbohydr. Polym. 82, 1097–1101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CARBPOL.2010.06.038
- Amen-Chen, C., Pakdel, H., Roy, C., 1997. Separation of phenols from Eucalyptus wood tar. Biomass and Bioenergy 13, 25–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(97)00021-4
- Amonette, J., Dai, S., Shaff, Z., Russell, C., Burton, S., Arey, B., 2008. An Exploration of the Physicochemical Diversity of a Suite of Biochars. AGU Fall Meet. Abstr.
- Antoy, J., 2014. Design of Experiments for Engineers and Scientists: Second Edition. Des. Exp. Eng. Sci. Second Ed. 1–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2012-0-03558-2
- Arancibia-Avila, P., Toledo, F., Park, Y.-S., Jung, S.-T., Kang, S.-G., Heo, B.G., Lee, S.-H., Sajewicz, M., Kowalska, T., Gorinstein, S., 2008. Antioxidant properties of durian fruit as influenced by ripening. LWT - Food Sci. Technol. 41, 2118–2125. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2007.12.001
- Ashari, S., Widodo, Ma., Bansir, L., 2015. The Nutritional Composition of Red Durians from Banyuwangi, Indonesia. Food Sci. Qual. Manag. 37, 46–52.
- Asmadi, M., Kawamoto, H., Saka, S., 2011a. Thermal reactions of guaiacol and syringol as lignin model aromatic nuclei. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 92, 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAP.2011.04.011
- Asmadi, M., Kawamoto, H., Saka, S., 2011b. Thermal reactivities of catechols/pyrogallols and cresols/xylenols as lignin pyrolysis intermediates. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 92, 76–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAP.2011.04.012

- Atkinson, C.J., Fitzgerald, J.D., Hipps, N.A., 2010. Potential mechanisms for achieving agricultural benefits from biochar application to temperate soils: A review. Plant Soil 337, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0464-5
- Atsonios, K., Panopoulos, K.D., Bridgwater, A. V., Kakaras, E., 2015. Biomass fast pyrolysis energy balance of a 1kg/h test rig. Int. J. Thermodyn. 18, 267–275. https://doi.org/10.5541/ijot.5000147483
- Aup-Ngoen, K., Noipitak, M., 2020. Effect of carbon-rich biochar on mechanical properties of PLA-biochar composites. Sustain. Chem. Pharm. 15, 100204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scp.2019.100204
- Aysu, T., 2015. Catalytic pyrolysis of Alcea pallida stems in a fixed-bed reactor for production of liquid bio-fuels. Bioresour. Technol. 191, 253–262. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.05.037
- Azargohar, R., Dalai, A.K., 2006. Biochar as a precursor of activated carbon. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 131, 762–773. https://doi.org/10.1385/ABAB:131:1:762
- Balat, Mustafa, Balat, Mehmet, Kirtay, E., Balat, H., 2009. Main routes for the thermo-conversion of biomass into fuels and chemicals. Part 1: Pyrolysis systems. Energy Convers. Manag. 50, 3147–3157. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2009.08.014
- Balogun, A.O., Lasode, O., Mcdonald, A., 2014. Thermo-Analytical and Physico-Chemical Characterization of Woody and Non-Woody Biomass from an Agroecological Zone in Nigeria. BioResources 9, 5099–5113. https://doi.org/10.15376/biores.9.3.5099-5113
- Bambooreform, 2022. Biochar [WWW Document]. URL http://www.bambooreform.com/product/biochar/ (accessed 11.14.22).
- Bampenrat, A., Boonkitkoson, A., Seangwattana, T., Suttiarporn, P., Sukkathanyawat, H., 2020. Kinetic Analysis of Durian Rind Pyrolysis Using Model-Free Method. IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci. 586. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/586/1/012002
- Berahim, Z., Ashrafuzzaman, M., Omar, M., Ismail, M., 2011. Effect of pyroligneous acid on growth, yield and quality improvement of rockmelon in soilless culture. Aust. J. Crop Sci. 5, 1508–1514.
- Branen, A.L., 2002. Food additives (2nd ed. rev. and expanded), 2nd ed., r. ed. Marcel Dekker New Yor.
- Brian J. Alloway, 2008. Micronutrient Deficiencies in Global Crop Production, 1st ed. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6860-7
- Bridgwater, A. V, Meier, D., Radlein, D., 1999. An overview of fast pyrolysis of biomass. Org. Geochem. 30, 1479–1493. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0146-6380(99)00120-5

Buchanan, B.B., Gruissem, W., Jones, R.L., 2000. Biochemistry and molecular

biology of plants. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken, NJ.

- Cantrell, K.B., Hunt, P.G., Uchimiya, M., Novak, J.M., Ro, K.S., 2012. Impact of pyrolysis temperature and manure source on physicochemical characteristics of biochar. Bioresour. Technol. 107, 419–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2011.11.084
- Cara, C., Ruiz, E., Oliva, J.M., Sáez, F., Castro, E., 2008. Conversion of olive tree biomass into fermentable sugars by dilute acid pretreatment and enzymatic saccharification. Bioresour. Technol. 99, 1869–1876. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2007.03.037
- Cha, J.S., Park, S.H., Jung, S.-C., Ryu, C., Jeon, J.-K., Shin, M.-C., Park, Y.-K., 2016. Production and utilization of biochar: A review. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 40, 1–15. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2016.06.002
- Chan, E., Fong, C., Kang, K., Chong, H., 2012. Potent antibacterial activity of wood vinegar from Matang Mangroves, Malaysia. ISME/GLOMIS Electron. J. 10, 10.
- Chang, S., Zhao, Z., Zheng, A., He, F., Huang, Z., Li, H., 2012. Characterization of Products from Torrefaction of Sprucewood and Bagasse in an Auger Reactor. Energy & Fuels 26, 7009–7017. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef301048a
- Chanthaburi Horticultural Research Center, 2019. Diversity of durian in Thailand [WWW Document]. URL www.doa.go.th/hc/chanthaburi (accessed 11.8.21).
- Charoenphun, N., Klangbud, W., 2020. Effect of Flour from Durian Waste on Quality of Gluten Free Pasta. Thai Sci. Technol. J. 5, 1–2.
- Charoenphun, N., Klangbud, W., 2019. Production of Gluten Free Cookies Supplemented with Durian Rind Flour. Sci. Technol. RMUTT J. 9, 23–38.
- Charoenphun, N., Kwanhian, W., 2020. Effect of Flour from Durian Waste on Quality of Gluten Free Pasta.
- Chen, B., Zhou, D., Zhu, L., 2008. Transitional Adsorption and Partition of Nonpolar and Polar Aromatic Contaminants by Biochars of Pine Needles with Different Pyrolytic Temperatures. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 5137–5143. https://doi.org/10.1021/es8002684
- Chen, W.-H., Peng, J., Bi, X.T., 2015. A state-of-the-art review of biomass torrefaction, densification and applications. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 44, 847–866. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.12.039
- Chen, W.H., Lin, B.J., 2016. Characteristics of products from the pyrolysis of oil palm fiber and its pellets in nitrogen and carbon dioxide atmospheres. Energy 94, 569–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2015.11.027
- Cheng, F., Luo, H., Colosi, L.M., 2020. Slow pyrolysis as a platform for negative emissions technology : An integration of machine learning models , life cycle assessment , and economic analysis. Energy Convers. Manag. 223, 113258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.113258

- Chingsuwanrote, P., Muangnoi, C., Parengam, K., Tuntipopipat, S., 2016. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of durian and rambutan pulp extract. Int. Food Res. J. 23, 939–947.
- Choi, Y.S., Ahn, B.J., Kim, G.H., 2012. Extraction of chromium, copper, and arsenic from CCA-treated wood by using wood vinegar. Bioresour. Technol. 120, 328–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2012.06.045
- Chowdhury, Z., Pal, K., Yehye, W., Suresh, S., Shah, S.T., Adebisi, A., Marliana, E., Rafique, R., Johan, R., 2017. Pyrolysis: A Sustainable Way to Generate Energy from Waste. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.69036
- Chutsawang, N., 2013. Charcoal Briquette from Durian Husk in Tombol Kwuanhuk Community Enterprise, Khlung, Chanthaburi. Rambhai Barni Rajabhat University.
- Deba, F., Xuan, T.D., Yasuda, M., Tawata, S., 2008. Chemical composition and antioxidant, antibacterial and antifungal activities of the essential oils from Bidens pilosa Linn. var. Radiata. Food Control 19, 346–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCONT.2007.04.011
- Demirbas, A., Arin, G., 2002. An Overview of Biomass Pyrolysis. Energy Sources 24, 471–482. https://doi.org/10.1080/00908310252889979
- Dijkerman, R., Bhansing, D.C.P., Op Den Camp, H.J.M., Van Der Drift, C., Vogels, G.D., 1997. Degradation of structural polysaccharides by the plant cell-wall degrading enzyme system from anaerobic fungi: An application study. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 21, 130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-0229(96)00251-7
- Ding, Y., Liu, Y.-X., Wu, W.-X., Shi, D.-Z., Yang, M., Zhong, Z.-K., 2010. Evaluation of Biochar Effects on Nitrogen Retention and Leaching in Multi-Layered Soil Columns. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. 213, 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-010-0366-4
- Energy789, 2017. Shredder [WWW Document]. URL https://mch789.com/th/articles/20962 (accessed 11.14.22).
- Engineering ToolBox, 2003. Ethylene Glycol Heat-Transfer Fluid Properties [WWW Document]. URL https://www.engineeringtoolbox.com/ethylene-glycol-d_146.html (accessed 11.14.22).
- Evans, R.J., Milne, T.A., 1987. Molecular characterization of the pyrolysis of biomass. Energy & Fuels 1, 123–137. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef00002a001
- Fagernäs, L., Kuoppala, E., Tiilikkala, K., Oasmaa, A., 2012. Chemical Composition of Birch Wood Slow Pyrolysis Products. Energy & Fuels 26, 1275–1283. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef2018836
- Faravelli, T., Frassoldati, A., Migliavacca, G., Ranzi, E., 2010. Detailed kinetic modeling of the thermal degradation of lignins. Biomass and Bioenergy 34, 290–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOMBIOE.2009.10.018

- Fiege, H., Voges, H.-W., Hamamoto, T., Umemura, S., Iwata, T., Miki, H., Fujita, Y., Buysch, H.-J., Garbe, D., Paulus, W., 2000. Phenol Derivatives. Ullmann's Encycl. Ind. Chem., Major Reference Works. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/14356007.a19_313
- Fisher, T., Hajaligol, M., Waymack, B., Kellogg, D., 2002. Pyrolysis behavior and kinetics of biomass derived materials. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 62, 331–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2370(01)00129-2
- Fozer, D., Kiss, B., Lorincz, L., Szekely, E., Mizsey, P., Nemeth, A., 2019. Improvement of microalgae biomass productivity and subsequent biogas yield of hydrothermal gasification via optimization of illumination. Renew. Energy 138, 1262–1272. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.12.122
- G., J., PEREZ, V., Ruiz-Colorado, A., 2006. ETHANOL PRODUCCTION OF BANANA SHELL AND CASSAVA STARCH. DYNA 73, 21–27.
- Galinato, S.P., Yoder, J.K., Granatstein, D., 2011. The economic value of biochar in crop production and carbon sequestration. Energy Policy 39, 6344–6350. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2011.07.035
- Ghysels, S., Acosta, N., Estrada, A., Pala, M., De Vrieze, J., Ronsse, F., Rabaey, K., 2020. Integrating anaerobic digestion and slow pyrolysis improves the product portfolio of a cocoa waste biorefinery. Sustain. Energy Fuels 4, 3712–3725. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0se00689k
- Grønli, M.G., Várhegyi, G., Di Blasi, C., 2002. Thermogravimetric Analysis and Devolatilization Kinetics of Wood. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 41, 4201–4208. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie0201157
- Guillén, M.D., Manzanos, M.J., 2005. Characteristics of smoke flavourings obtained from mixtures of oak (Quercus sp.) wood and aromatic plants (Thymus vulgaris L. and Salvia lavandulifolia Vahl.). Flavour Fragr. J. 20, 676–685. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.1599
- Guillén, M.D., Manzanos, M.J., 2002. Study of the volatile composition of an aqueous oak smoke preparation. Food Chem. 79, 283–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(02)00141-3
- Hagner, M., 2013. Potential of the slow pyrolysis products birch tar oil, wood vinegar and biochar in sustainable plant protection pesticidal effects, soil improvement and environmental risks.
- Hagner, M., Pasanen, T., Lindqvist, B., Lindqvist, I., Tiilikkala, K., Penttinen, O.P., Setälä, H., 2010. Effects of birch tar oils on soil organisms and plants. Agric. Food Sci. 19, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.2137/145960610791015096
- Hamzah, F., Idris, A., Rashid, R., S.J, M., 2009. Lactic Acid Production from Microwave-Alkali Pre-Treated Empty Fruit Bunches Fibre using Rhizopus oryzae Pellet. J. Appl. Sci. 9. https://doi.org/10.3923/jas.2009.3086.3091
- Harris, D., DeBolt, S., 2010. Synthesis, regulation and utilization of lignocellulosic biomass. Plant Biotechnol. J. 8, 244–262.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7652.2009.00481.x

- Hasan, M.D.M., Hu, X., Gunawan, R., Li, C.-Z., 2017. Pyrolysis of large mallee wood particles: Temperature gradients within a pyrolysing particle and effects of moisture content. Fuel Process. Technol. 158, 163–171. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2016.12.018
- Himmelsbach, D.S., Akin, D.E., 1998. Near-Infrared Fourier-Transform Raman Spectroscopy of Flax (Linum usitatissimum L.) Stems. J. Agric. Food Chem. 46, 991–998. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf970656k
- Hodgson, E., Lewys-James, A., Rao Ravella, S., Thomas-Jones, S., Perkins, W., Gallagher, J., 2016. Optimisation of slow-pyrolysis process conditions to maximise char yield and heavy metal adsorption of biochar produced from different feedstocks. Bioresour. Technol. 214, 574–581. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.05.009
- Horticultural Research Institute, 2020. Durian situation [WWW Document]. URL www.doa.go.th/th/ (accessed 11.8.21).
- Hossain, M.K., Strezov, V., Yin Chan, K., Nelson, P.F., 2010. Agronomic properties of wastewater sludge biochar and bioavailability of metals in production of cherry tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum). Chemosphere 78, 1167–1171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.01.009
- Hossain, M.M., Scott, I.M., McGarvey, B.D., Conn, K., Ferrante, L., Berruti, F., Briens, C., 2013. Toxicity of lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose-pyrolyzed biooil combinations: Estimating pesticide resources. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 99, 211–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAP.2012.07.008
- Howard, R., Abotsi, E., Jansen van Rensburg, E., 2002. Lignocellulose biotechnology: Issues of bioconversion and enzyme production. African J. Biotechnol. (ISSN 1684-5315) Vol 2 Num 12 2. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB2003.000-1115
- Hua, G. Du, MORI, E., TERAO, H., TSUZUKI, E., 1998. Effect of the Mixture of Charcoal with Pyroligneous Acid on Shoot and Root Growth of Sweet Potato. Japanese J. Crop Sci. 67, 149–152. https://doi.org/10.1626/jcs.67.149
- Hwang, Y.-H., Matsushita, Y.-I., Sugamoto, K., Matsui, T., 2005. Antimicrobial effect of the wood vinegar from Cryptomeria japonica sapwood on plant pathogenic microorganisms. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 15, 1106–1109.
- Inayat, M., Sulaiman, S.A., Bhayo, B.A., Shahbaz, M., 2020. Application of response surface methodology in catalytic co-gasification of palm wastes for bioenergy conversion using mineral catalysts. Biomass and Bioenergy 132, 105418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2019.105418
- International Energy Agency, 2006. Annual Report, 2006: IEA Bioenergy: Task 34, Pyrolysis of Biomass. International Energy Agency.
- Iqbal, H., Ahmed, I., Zia, M., Irfan, M., 2011. Purification and characterization of the kinetic parameters of cellulase produced from wheat straw by Trichoderma

viride under SSF and its detergent compatibility. Adv. Biosci. Biotechnol.

- Jahirul, M.I., Rasul, M., Chowdhury, A., Ashwath, N., 2012. Biofuels Production through Biomass Pyrolysis — A Technological Review. Energies 5, 4952– 5001. https://doi.org/10.3390/en5124952
- Jeffery, S., Verheijen, F.G.A., van der Velde, M., Bastos, A.C., 2011. A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on crop productivity using meta-analysis. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 144, 175–187. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.08.015
- Jin, S., Chen, H., 2007. Near-infrared analysis of the chemical composition of rice straw. Ind. Crops Prod. 26, 207–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2007.03.004
- Jun, T.Y., Arumugam, S.D., Latip, N.H.A., Abdullah, A.M., Latif, P.A., 2010. Effect of activation temperature and heating duration on physical characteristics of activated carbon prepared from agriculture waste. EnvironmentAsia 3, 143–148.
- Karhu, K., Mattila, T., Bergström, I., Regina, K., 2011. Biochar addition to agricultural soil increased CH4 uptake and water holding capacity – Results from a short-term pilot field study. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 140, 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGEE.2010.12.005
- Kawamoto, H., Horigoshi, S., Saka, S., 2007. Pyrolysis reactions of various lignin model dimers. J. Wood Sci. 53, 168–174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10086-006-0834-z
- Kearns, J.P., Wellborn, L.S., Summers, R.S., Knappe, D.R.U., 2014. 2,4-D adsorption to biochars: Effect of preparation conditions on equilibrium adsorption capacity and comparison with commercial activated carbon literature data. Water Res. 62, 20–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2014.05.023
- Khemkaew, S., Kaewpirom, S., 2016. Effects of glycerol and PEG-10 dimethicone on properties of biofilm from durian rind. J. Ind. Technol. 12, 11–21.
- Kim DH, HE, S., L, S.-C., L, K., 2008. Effects of Wood Vinegar Mixted with Insecticides on the Mortalities of and (Homoptera : Delphacidae). Japan J. Crop Sci. 67, 149–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/19768354.2008.9647153
- Kim, K., Kurata, T., Fujimaki, M., 1974. Identification of Flavor Constituents in Carbonyl, Non-Carbonyl Neutral and Basic Fractions of Aqueous Smoke Condensates. Agric. Biol. Chem. 38, 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/00021369.1974.10861117
- Kniel, K., Sumner, S., Lindsay, D., Hackney, C., Pierson, M., Zajac, A., Golden, D., 2003. Effect of Organic Acids and Hydrogen Peroxide on Cryptosporidium parvum Viability in Fruit Juices. J. Food Prot. 66, 1650–1657. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-66.9.1650

Lab valley, 2022. DI water [WWW Document]. URL

https://www.labvalley.com/product/389/di-water (accessed 11.14.22).

- Lam, S.S., Liew, R.K., Lim, X.Y., Ani, F.N., Jusoh, A., 2016. Fruit waste as feedstock for recovery by pyrolysis technique. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegradation 113, 325–333. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2016.02.021
- Lanzetta, M., Di Blasi, C., 1998. Pyrolysis kinetics of wheat and corn straw. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 44, 181–192. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2370(97)00079-X
- LAZADA, 2021a. Chiller Water Cooling [WWW Document]. URL https://www.lazada.co.th/products/chiller-water-cooling-jl-6000-chiller-jl6000jl-6000-water-cooled-chiller-cool-cooled-cnc-i595720404s10472589029.html?&search=pdp_same_topselling?spm=a2o4m.pdp_revamp. recommendation_1.1.3bd317bc8JIT4V&mp=1&scm=1007.16389 (accessed 11.14.22).
- LAZADA, 2021b. Wood vinegar [WWW Document]. URL https://www.lazada.co.th/products/1-100-i1392540870s3555038102.html?clickTrackInfo=undefined&search=1&source=search&spm =a2o4m.searchlist.list.51 (accessed 11.14.22).
- LAZADA, n.d. Antifreeze Coolant MONO ETHYLENE GLYCOL (MEG) [WWW Document]. 2022. URL https://www.lazada.co.th/products/antifreeze-coolantmono-ethylene-glycol-meg-20-i1907934455s6013426247.html?exlaz=d_1:mm_150050845_51350205_2010350205::12:17 724336665!!!!!c!!6013426247!240064077&gclid=CjwKCAiA9qKbBhAzEiw AS4yeDVKCIk1P9vagjr1QfJID5Q8Vj-jN (accessed 11.8.22).
- Lee, J.-Y., Lee, K.-K., 2013. Remediation of Contaminated Groundwater: Change of Paradigm for Sustainable Use. J. Soil Groundw. Environ. 18. https://doi.org/10.7857/JSGE.2013.18.6.001
- Lehmann, J., Joseph, S., 2012. Biochar for Environmental Management, Biochar for Environmental Management.
- Lewandowski, W.M., Ryms, M., Kosakowski, W., 2020. Thermal biomass conversion: A review. Processes 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/PR8050516
- Li, S., Xu, S., Liu, S., Yang, C., Lu, Q., 2004. Fast pyrolysis of biomass in free-fall reactor for hydrogen-rich gas. Fuel Process. Technol. 85, 1201–1211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2003.11.043
- Li, Y., Xing, B., Ding, Y., Han, X., Wang, S., 2020. A critical review of the production and advanced utilization of biochar via selective pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour. Technol. 312, 123614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123614
- Liang, B., Lehmann, J., Solomon, D., Kinyangi, J., Grossman, J., O'Neill, B., Skjemstad, J.O., Thies, J., Luizão, F.J., Petersen, J., Neves, E.G., 2006. Black Carbon Increases Cation Exchange Capacity in Soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 70, 1719–1730. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2005.0383

- Lin, H.C., Shiah, T.-C., 2006. Evaluation of Fungi Resistance of Moso Bamboo Materials Using Bamboo Vinegar with Smoking Process. Q. J. For. Res. Taiwan 28, 51–66.
- Lipipun, V., Nantawanit, N., Pongsamart, S., 2002. Antimicrobial activity (in vitro) of polysaccharide gel from durian fruit-hulls. Songklanakarin J. Sci. Tehcnol. 24, 31–38.
- Liu, X., Zhang, Yang, Li, Z., Feng, R., Zhang, Yaozhong, 2014. Characterization of corncob-derived biochar and pyrolysis kinetics in comparison with corn stalk and sawdust. Bioresour. Technol. 170, 76–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.07.077
- Loo, A.Y., Jain, K., Darah, I., 2008. Antioxidant activity of compounds isolated from the pyroligneous acid, Rhizophora apiculata. Food Chem. 107, 1151–1160. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2007.09.044
- Lu, X., Jiang, J., He, J., Sun, K., Sun, Y., 2019. Effect of Pyrolysis Temperature on the Characteristics of Wood Vinegar Derived from Chinese Fir Waste: A Comprehensive Study on Its Growth Regulation Performance and Mechanism. ACS Omega 4, 19054–19062. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b02240
- Lubis, R., Saragih, S.W., Wirjosentono, B., Eddyanto, E., 2018. Characterization of durian rinds fiber (Durio zubinthinus, murr) from North Sumatera. AIP Conf. Proc. 2049. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5082474
- Lv, P.M., Xiong, Z.H., Chang, J., Wu, C.Z., Chen, Y., Zhu, J.X., 2004. An experimental study on biomass air–steam gasification in a fluidized bed. Bioresour. Technol. 95, 95–101. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2004.02.003
- Ma, C., Li, W., Zu, Y., Yang, L., Li, J., 2014. Antioxidant properties of pyroligneous acid obtained by thermochemical conversion of Schisandra chinensis baill. Molecules 19, 20821–20838. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules191220821
- Ma, C., Song, K., Yu, J., Yang, L., Zhao, C., Wang, W., Zu, G., Zu, Y., 2013. Pyrolysis process and antioxidant activity of pyroligneous acid from Rosmarinus officinalis leaves. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 104, 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAP.2013.09.011
- Machado, L.M.M., Lütke, S.F., Perondi, D., Godinho, M., Oliveira, M.L.S., Collazzo, G.C., Dotto, G.L., 2020. Simultaneous production of mesoporous biochar and palmitic acid by pyrolysis of brewing industry wastes. Waste Manag. 113, 96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2020.05.038
- Magid, J., Luxhøi, J., Lyshede, O.B., 2004. Decomposition of plant residues at low temperatures separates turnover of nitrogen and energy rich tissue components in time. Plant Soil 258, 351–365. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:PLSO.0000016565.14718.4b

Maran, J.P., 2015. Statistical optimization of aqueous extraction of pectin from

waste durian rinds. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 73, 92–98. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2014.10.050

- Marumoto, S., Yamamoto, S.P., Nishimura, H., Onomoto, K., Yatagai, M., Yazaki, K., Fujita, T., Watanabe, T., 2012. Identification of a Germicidal Compound against Picornavirus in Bamboo Pyroligneous Acid. J. Agric. Food Chem. 60, 9106–9111. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf3021317
- Maschio, G., Koufopanos, C., Lucchesi, A., 1992. Pyrolysis, a promising route for biomass utilization. Bioresour. Technol. 42, 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-8524(92)90025-S
- Mašek, O., Brownsort, P., Cross, A., Sohi, S., 2013. Influence of production conditions on the yield and environmental stability of biochar. Fuel 103, 151– 155. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2011.08.044
- Masrol, S.R., Ibrahim, M.H.I., Adnan, S., 2015. Chemi-mechanical Pulping of Durian Rinds. Procedia Manuf. 2, 171–180. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.030
- Mathew, S., Abraham, T.E., 2004. Ferulic acid: an antioxidant found naturally in plant cell walls and feruloyl esterases involved in its release and their applications. Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. 24, 59–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388550490491467
- Mathew, S., Zakaria, Z.A., 2015. Pyroligneous acid—the smoky acidic liquid from plant biomass. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 99, 611–622. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-014-6242-1
- Mathew, S., Zakaria, Z.A., Musa, N.F., 2015. Antioxidant property and chemical profile of pyroligneous acid from pineapple plant waste biomass. Process Biochem. 50, 1985–1992. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PROCBIO.2015.07.007
- Ministry of Energy, 2022. LPG Price [WWW Document]. URL http://www.eppo.go.th/templates/eppo_v15_mixed/eppo_lpg/eppo_lpg_gen.ph p (accessed 11.14.22).
- Ministry of Labour, 2022. Minimum Wage Rate [WWW Document]. URL https://www.mol.go.th/en/minimum-wage (accessed 11.14.22).
- Mirhosseini, H., Abdul Rashid, N.F., Tabatabaee Amid, B., Cheong, K.W., Kazemi, M., Zulkurnain, M., 2015. Effect of partial replacement of corn flour with durian seed flour and pumpkin flour on cooking yield, texture properties, and sensory attributes of gluten free pasta. LWT - Food Sci. Technol. 63, 184–190. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2015.03.078
- Mohan, D., Pittman, C.U.J., Steele, P.H., 2006. Pyrolysis of Wood/Biomass for Biooil: A Critical Review. Energy & Fuels 20, 848–889. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef0502397
- Mojaver, P., Khalilarya, S., Chitsaz, A., 2019. Multi-objective optimization using response surface methodology and exergy analysis of a novel integrated biomass gasification, solid oxide fuel cell and high-temperature sodium heat

pipe system. Appl. Therm. Eng. 156, 627–639. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2019.04.104

- Mungkunkamchao, T., Kesmala, T., Pimratch, S., Toomsan, B., Jothityangkoon, D., 2013. Wood vinegar and fermented bioextracts: Natural products to enhance growth and yield of tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.). Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam). 154, 66–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2013.02.020
- Naeem, M.A., Khalid, M., Arshad, M., Ahmad, R., 2014. Yield and nutrient composition of biochar produced from different feedstocks at varying pyrolytic temperatures. Pakistan J. Agric. Sci. 51, 75–82.
- Nakai, S.A., Siebert, K.J., 2003. Validation of bacterial growth inhibition models based on molecular properties of organic acids. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 86, 249– 255. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1605(02)00551-2
- Ngabura, M., Hussain, S.A., Ghani, W.A.W., Jami, M.S., Tan, Y.P., 2019. Optimization and activation of renewable durian husk for biosorption of lead (II) from an aqueous medium. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 94, 1384–1396. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.5882
- Nordlund, J.J., Grimes, P.E., Ortonne, J.P., 2006. The safety of hydroquinone. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatology Venereol. 20, 781–787. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3083.2006.01670.x
- Novak, J., Lima, I., Xing, B., Gaskin, J., Steiner, C., Das, K.C., Ahmedna, M., Rehrah, D., Watts, D.W., Busscher, W., Schomberg, H., 2009. Characterization of Designer Biochar Produced at Different Temperatures and Their Effects on a Loamy Sand. United States Dep. Agric. Agric. Res. Serv. Coast. Plains Res. Lab. Florence, South Carolina, 29501, United States Dep. Agric. Agric. Res. Serv. South. Reg. Res. Center, New Orle 3.
- Nuriana, W., Anisa, N., Martana, 2014. Synthesis Preliminary Studies Durian Peel Bio Briquettes as an Alternative Fuels. Energy Procedia 47, 295–302. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2014.01.228
- O. Duazo, N., 2012. Crude methanolic extract activity from rinds and seeds of native durian (Durio zibethinus) against Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus. African J. Microbiol. Res. 6, 6483–6486. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajmr12.1180
- Office Of Scientific Instrument and Testing, 2022. Pricerate [WWW Document]. URL https://osit.psu.ac.th/th/pricerate/ (accessed 11.14.22).
- Ong, S.-T., Keng, P., Voon, S., Lee, S., 2011. Application of Durian Peel (Durio zibethinus Murray) for Removal of Methylene Blue from Aqueous Solution. Asian J. Chem. 23, 2898–2902.
- Pakkaew, Y., 2016. Durian: King of fruit, how to eat for health benefit. Food 46, 15–20.
- Pauly, M., Keegstra, K., 2008. Cell-wall carbohydrates and their modification as a resource for biofuels. Plant J. 54, 559–568. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2008.03463.x

- Pei-dong, Z., Guomei, J., Gang, W., 2007. Contribution to emission reduction of CO2 and SO2 by household biogas construction in rural China. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 11, 1903–1912. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2005.11.009
- Peng, X., Ye, L.L., Wang, C.H., Zhou, H., Sun, B., 2011. Temperature- and duration-dependent rice straw-derived biochar: Characteristics and its effects on soil properties of an Ultisol in southern China. Soil Tillage Res. 112, 159– 166. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2011.01.002
- Phisatan, P., Chorchong, T., Maneechot, P., Bongkoot, P., Thanarak, P., Wansungnern, W., 2015. The effect of refinering temperature on the quality of wood vinegar., in: The 8th Thailand Renewable Energy for Community. Rajamangala University of Technology, pp. 223–226.
- Poudel, J., Ohm, T.-I., Oh, S.C., 2015. A study on torrefaction of food waste. Fuel 140, 275–281. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2014.09.120
- Prakongkep, N., Gilkes, R.J., Wanpen, W.A., 2014. Agronomic benefits of durian shell biochar. J. Met. Mater. Miner. 24, 7–11.
- Provincial Electricity Authority, 2022. Electric Monthly Calculation [WWW Document]. URL https://eservice.pea.co.th/EstimateBill/# (accessed 11.14.22).
- Purnomo, A., Yudiantoro, Y.A.W., Putro, J.N., Nugraha, A.T., Irawaty, W., Ismadji, S., 2016. Subcritical water hydrolysis of durian seeds waste for bioethanol production. Int. J. Ind. Chem. 7, 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40090-015-0059-3
- Qambrani, N.A., Rahman, M.M., Won, S., Shim, S., Ra, C., 2017. Biochar properties and eco-friendly applications for climate change mitigation, waste management, and wastewater treatment: A review. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 79, 255–273. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.057
- Rachtanapun, P., Luangkamin, S., Tanprasert, K., Suriyatem, R., 2012. Carboxymethyl cellulose film from durian rind. LWT - Food Sci. Technol. 48, 52–58. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2012.02.029
- Rakmai, J., 2009. Chemical Determinations, Antimicrobial and Antioxidant Activities of Thai Wood Vinegars. Prince of Songkla University.
- Ratanapisit, J., Sunanta, A., Athirat, R., Juntima, C., Bunyakan, C., 2009. Preliminary evaluation of production and characterization of wood vinegar from rubberwood. Songklanakarin J. Sci. Technol. 31.
- Reniers, G., Talarico, L., Paltrinieri, N., 2016. Cost-Benefit Analysis of Safety Measures, Dynamic Risk Analysis in the Chemical and Petroleum Industry: Evolution and Interaction with Parallel Disciplines in the Perspective of Industrial Application. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803765-2.00016-0

- Robert, P., Marquis, M., Barron, C., Guillon, F., Saulnier, L., 2005. FT-IR investigation of cell wall polysaccharides from cereal grains. Arabinoxylan infrared assignment. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 7014–7018. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf051145y
- Ronsse, F., van Hecke, S., Dickinson, D., Prins, W., 2013. Production and characterization of slow pyrolysis biochar: Influence of feedstock type and pyrolysis conditions. GCB Bioenergy 5, 104–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12018
- Saletnik, B., Zagula, G., Bajcar, M., Tarapatskyy, M., Bobula, G., Puchalski, C., 2019. Biochar as a multifunctional component of the environment-a review. Appl. Sci. 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/app9061139
- Sanjuán, R., Anzaldo, J., Vargas, J., Turrado, J., Patt, R., 2001. Morphological and Chemical Composition of Pith and Fibers from Mexican Sugarcane Bagasse. Holz als Roh- und Werkst. 59, 447–450. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001070100236
- Sarkar, J.K., Wang, Q., 2020. Different pyrolysis process conditions of South Asian waste coconut shell and characterization of gas, bio-char, and bio-oil. Energies 13. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13081970
- Schulz, H., Baranska, M., 2007. Identification and quantification of valuable plant substances by IR and Raman spectroscopy. Vib. Spectrosc. 43, 13–25. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vibspec.2006.06.001
- Setter, C., Silva, F.T.M., Assis, M.R., Ataíde, C.H., Trugilho, P.F., Oliveira, T.J.P., 2020. Slow pyrolysis of coffee husk briquettes: Characterization of the solid and liquid fractions. Fuel 261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2019.116420
- Shopee, 2020. Solar dome [WWW Document]. URL https://shopee.co.th/Amazing-Dome-81-i.515775501.15816884823 (accessed 11.14.22).
- Singh, B., Dolk, M.M., Shen, Q., Camps-Arbestain, M., 2017. Biochar pH, electrical conductivity and liming potential. Biochar A Guid. to Anal. Methods 23–38.
- Singh, B.P., Cowie, A.L., Smernik, R.J., 2012. Biochar Carbon Stability in a Clayey Soil As a Function of Feedstock and Pyrolysis Temperature. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 11770–11778. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302545b
- Siriphanich, J., 2011. 5 Durian (Durio zibethinus Merr.), in: Yahia, E.M.B.T.-P.B. and T. of T. and S.F. (Ed.), Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition. Woodhead Publishing, pp. 80-116e. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857092885.80
- Smith, J.L., Collins, H.P., Bailey, V.L., 2010. The effect of young biochar on soil respiration. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42, 2345–2347. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOILBIO.2010.09.013
- Soegeng-Reksodihardjo, W., 1962. The Species of Durio with Edible Fruits. Econ. Bot. 16, 270–282.

- Solaiman, Z., Blackwell, P., Abbott, L., Storer, P., 2010. Direct and residual effect of biochar application on mycorrhizal root colonisation, growth and nutrition of wheat. Aust J. Soil Res. 48. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR10002
- Son, T., Lee, J., Kim, S., Lee, S.C., 2003. Effect of a Mixture of Charcoal and Pyroligenous Acid Applied to the Soil at Different Fertilizer Levels on the Growth and Yield of Rice. Japanese J. Crop Sci. 72, 345–349. https://doi.org/10.1626/jcs.72.345
- Souza, J.B.G., Ré-Poppi, N., Raposo Jr., J.L., 2012. Characterization of pyroligneous acid used in agriculture by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. J. Braz. Chem. Soc. 23, 610–617. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-50532012000400005
- Speight, J.G., 2015. 8 Assessing fuels for gasification: analytical and quality control techniques for coal, in: Luque, R., Speight, J.G.B.T.-G. for S.F.P. (Eds.), Woodhead Publishing Series in Energy. Woodhead Publishing, pp. 175– 198. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-85709-802-3.00008-4
- Spokas, K.A., Cantrell, K.B., Novak, J.M., Archer, D.W., Ippolito, J.A., Collins, H.P., Boateng, A.A., Lima, I.M., Lamb, M.C., McAloon, A.J., Lentz, R.D., Nichols, K.A., 2012. Biochar: A Synthesis of Its Agronomic Impact beyond Carbon Sequestration. J. Environ. Qual. 41, 973–989. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2011.0069
- Stam, A.F., Brem, G., 2019. Fouling in coal-fired boilers: Biomass co-firing, full conversion and use of additives – A thermodynamic approach. Fuel 239, 1274– 1283. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2018.11.127
- Stefanidis, S.D., Kalogiannis, K.G., Iliopoulou, E.F., Michailof, C.M., Pilavachi, P.A., Lappas, A.A., 2014. A study of lignocellulosic biomass pyrolysis via the pyrolysis of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 105, 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAP.2013.10.013
- Stolarski, M.J., Krzyzaniak, M., Załuski, D., Niksa, D., 2018. Evaluation of biomass quality of selected woody species depending on the soil enrichment practice. Int. Agrophysics 32, 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1515/intag-2016-0097
- Sun, J., He, F., Pan, Y., Zhang, Z., 2017. Effects of pyrolysis temperature and residence time on physicochemical properties of different biochar types. Acta Agric. Scand. Sect. B — Soil Plant Sci. 67, 12–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/09064710.2016.1214745
- Sun, Y., Cheng, J., 2002. Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production: a review. Bioresour. Technol. 83, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00212-7
- Sun, Y., Gao, B., Yao, Y., Fang, J., Zhang, M., Zhou, Y., Chen, H., Yang, L., 2014. Effects of feedstock type, production method, and pyrolysis temperature on biochar and hydrochar properties. Chem. Eng. J. 240, 574–578. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2013.10.081

- Suriyatem, R., Auras, R.A., Rachtanapun, P., 2019. Utilization of Carboxymethyl Cellulose from Durian Rind Agricultural Waste to Improve Physical Properties and Stability of Rice Starch-Based Film. J. Polym. Environ. 27, 286–298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-018-1343-z
- Szeghalmi, A., Kaminskyj, S., Gough, K.M., 2007. A synchrotron FTIR microspectroscopy investigation of fungal hyphae grown under optimal and stressed conditions. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 387, 1779–1789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-006-0850-2
- Tan, Y.L., Abdullah, A.Z., Hameed, B.H., 2017. Fast pyrolysis of durian (Durio zibethinus L) shell in a drop-type fixed bed reactor: Pyrolysis behavior and product analyses. Bioresour. Technol. 243, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.015
- Theapparat, Y., Chandumpai, A., Faroongsarng, D., 2018. Physicochemistry and Utilization of Wood Vinegar from Carbonization of Tropical Biomass Waste. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.77380
- Theapparat, Y., Chandumpai, A., Leelasuphakul, W., Laemsak, N., Ponglimanont, C., 2014. Physicochemical Characteristics of Wood Vinegars from Carbonization of Leucaena leucocephala ... Physicochemical Characteristics of Wood Vinegars from. Kasetsart 48, 916–928.
- Theapparat, Y., Khongthong, S., Rodjan, P., Lertwittayanon, K., Faroongsarng, D., 2019. Physicochemical properties and in vitro antioxidant activities of pyroligneous acid prepared from brushwood biomass waste of Mangosteen, Durian, Rambutan, and Langsat. J. For. Res. 30, 1139–1148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-018-0675-9
- Thornley, P., Upham, P., Huang, Y., Rezvani, S., Brammer, J., Rogers, J., 2009. Integrated assessment of bioelectricity technology options. Energy Policy 37, 890–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2008.10.032
- Tipsotnaiyana N., Netpradit S., 2007. Development of Paper from Two Types of Durian Bark for Inkjet Printing. Agric. Sci. J. 38, 15–18.
- Van Zwieten, L., Kimber, S., Morris, S., Chan, K.Y., Downie, A., Rust, J., Joseph, S., Cowie, A., 2010. Effects of biochar from slow pyrolysis of papermill waste on agronomic performance and soil fertility. Plant Soil 327, 235–246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-0050-x
- Vattem, D.A., Lin, Y.T., Labbe, R.G., Shetty, K., 2004. Phenolic antioxidant mobilization in cranberry pomace by solid-state bioprocessing using food grade fungus Lentinus edodes and effect on antimicrobial activity against select food borne pathogens. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 5, 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IFSET.2003.09.002
- Vázquez Encalada, S., Segura Campos, M.R., 2021. Mucuna pruriens fiber: Nutritional, functional and biological propertie. Food Sci. Technol. 41, 120– 126. https://doi.org/10.1590/fst.39719

- Velmurugan, N., Han, S.S., Lee, Y.S., 2009. Antifungal Activity of Neutralized Wood Vinegar with Water Extracts of Pinus densiflora and Quercus serrata Saw Dusts. Int. J. Environ. Res. 3, 167–176. https://doi.org/10.22059/ijer.2009.45
- W. Gaskin, J., Steiner, C., Harris, K., C. Das, K., Bibens, B., 2008. Effect of Low-Temperature Pyrolysis Conditions on Biochar for Agricultural Use. Trans. ASABE 51, 2061–2069. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.25409
- Wang, H.F., Wang, J.L., Wang, C., Zhang, W.M., Liu, J.X., Dai, B., 2012. Effect of bamboo vinegar as an antibiotic alternative on growth performance and fecal bacterial communities of weaned piglets. Livest. Sci. 144, 173–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LIVSCI.2011.11.015
- Wang, M., Zheng, Q., Shen, Q., Guo, S., 2013. The Critical Role of Potassium in Plant Stress Response. Int. J. Mol. Sci. . https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms14047370
- Warnock, D.D., Mummey, D.L., McBride, B., Major, J., Lehmann, J., Rillig, M.C., 2010. Influences of non-herbaceous biochar on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal abundances in roots and soils: Results from growth-chamber and field experiments. Appl. Soil Ecol. 46, 450–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2010.09.002
- Watarai, S., Tana, 2005. Eliminating the carriage of Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis in domestic fowls by feeding activated charcoal from bark containing wood vinegar liquid (Nekka-Rich). Poult. Sci. 84, 515–521. https://doi.org/10.1093/PS/84.4.515
- Wei, Q., Ma, X., Dong, J., 2010a. Preparation, chemical constituents and antimicrobial activity of pyroligneous acids from walnut tree branches. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 87, 24–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAP.2009.09.006
- Wei, Q., Ma, X., Zhao, Z., Zhang, S., Liu, S., 2010b. Antioxidant activities and chemical profiles of pyroligneous acids from walnut shell. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 88, 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAP.2010.03.008
- Wicks, D., 2022. Packaging Sales Goals and Strategies [WWW Document]. CHRON. URL https://smallbusiness.chron.com/packaging-sales-goalsstrategies-15852.html (accessed 11.28.22).
- Wilson, R.H., Smith, A.C., Kacuráková, M., Saunders, P.K., Wellner, N., Waldron, K.W., 2000. The mechanical properties and molecular dynamics of plant cell wall polysaccharides studied by Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy. Plant Physiol. 124, 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.124.1.397
- Wititsiri, S., 2011. Production of wood vinegars from coconut shells and additional materials for control of termite workers, Odontotermes sp. and striped mealy bugs, Ferrisia virgata. Songklanakarin J. Sci. Technol. 33, 349–354.
- Woolf, D., Amonette, J.E., Street-Perrott, F.A., Lehmann, J., Joseph, S., 2010. Sustainable biochar to mitigate global climate change . Nat. Commun. 1, 56. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1053

Woolley, S., Hallowell, B., 2018. Biochar: An Overview.

- Xu, F., Shi, Y.-C., Wang, D., 2013. X-ray scattering studies of lignocellulosic biomass: a review. Carbohydr. Polym. 94, 904–917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2013.02.008
- Yang, J.F., Yang, C.H., Liang, M.T., Gao, Z.J., Wu, Y.W., Chuang, L.Y., 2016. Chemical composition, antioxidant, and antibacterial activity of wood vinegar from litchi chinensis. Molecules 21, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21091150
- Yatagai, M., Nishimoto, M., Hori, K., Ohira, T., Shibata, A., 2002. Termiticidal activity of wood vinegar, its components and their homologues. J. Wood Sci. 48, 338–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00831357
- Yu, P., Block, H., Niu, Z., Doiron, K., 2007. Rapid characterization of molecular chemistry, nutrient make-up and microlocation of internal seed tissue. J. Synchrotron Radiat. 14, 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1107/S0909049507014264
- Yuan, J.H., Xu, R.K., Zhang, H., 2011. The forms of alkalis in the biochar produced from crop residues at different temperatures. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 3488– 3497. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2010.11.018
- Zhang, X., Fu, W., Yin, Y., Chen, Z., Qiu, R., Simonnot, M.-O., Wang, X., 2018. Adsorption-reduction removal of Cr(VI) by tobacco petiole pyrolytic biochar: Batch experiment, kinetic and mechanism studies. Bioresour. Technol. 268, 149–157. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.125
- Zhang, Y., Wang, X., Liu, B., Liu, Q., Zheng, H., You, X., Sun, K., Luo, X., Li, F., 2020. Comparative study of individual and Co-Application of biochar and wood vinegar on blueberry fruit yield and nutritional quality. Chemosphere 246, 125699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.125699
- Zhu, Y., Lee, Y.Y., Elander, R.T., 2005. Optimization of dilute-acid pretreatment of corn stover using a high-solids percolation reactor. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 124, 1045–1054. https://doi.org/10.1385/ABAB:124:1-3:1045

VITAE

Name Ajchareeya Manmeen

Student ID 6310130008

Educational Attainment

Degree	Name of Institution	Year of Graduation
Master of Science	Prince of Songkla University	2020
Bachelor of Science	Prince of Songkla University	2017

Scholarship Awards during Enrolment

Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University under Talent Utilization Type 1 for Ph.D. student (Grant number TU1-01/2564)

List of Publication and Proceeding

- Ajchareeya Manmeen, Rattana Jariyaboon and Prawit Kongjan. Biogas Desulfurisation by Recycled Water and Sodium Hydroxide Solution Absorption. The 8th Sci-tech symposium. Pattani, Thailand, May 11, 2018.
- Ajchareeya Manmeen, Prawit Kongjan and Rattana Jariyaboon. Hydrogen Sulfide Removal from Biogas by Using Recycled Water Absorption for Concentrated Latex Factory. The 14th Asian Biohydrogen, Biorefinery and Bioprocess Symposium (ABBS 2019). Hanoi, Vietnam, November 13-15, 2019.
- Thiwa Rattanaya, Ajchareeya Manmeen, Prawit Kongjan, Charun Bunyakan,
 Alissara Reungsang, Kulchanat Prasertsit, Lidia Lombardi, and Rattana
 Jariyaboon. Upgrading Biogas to Biomethane Using Untreated
 Groundwater-NaOH Absorbent: Pilot-Scale Experiment and Scale-up
 Estimation for a Palm Oil Mill. Journal of Water Process Engineering 2021,
 44: 102405.

- Ajchareeya Manmeen, Prawit Kongjan, Thiwa Rattanaya, Benjamas Cheirsilp, Nattapol Raybut, and Rattana Jariyaboon. Desulfurization of H₂S-rich biogas using water scrubbing: Performance in pilot scale scrubber and scale-up estimation for the concentrated latex factory. Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy 2022, 1-10.
- Ajchareeya Manmeen, Prawit Kongjan, Arkom Palamanit, and Rattana Jariyaboon. The biochar, and pyrolysis liquid characteristics, of three indigenous durian peel; Monthong, Puangmanee, and Bacho. Biomass and Bioenergy. 2023, 174, 106816.
- Ajchareeya Manmeen, Prawit Kongjan, Arkom Palamanit, and Rattana Jariyaboon. Biochar and pyrolysis liquid production from durian peel by using slow pyrolysis process: Regression analysis, characterization, and economic assessment. Industrial Crops and Products. 2023, 203: 117162.